

Institute for Sustainable Food Systems.

BRINGING OUR FOOD SYSTEM HOME

Report on the Okanagan Bioregion Food System Project

About the ISFS

The Institute for Sustainable Food Systems (ISFS) is an applied research and extension unit at Kwantlen Polytechnic University that investigates and supports regional food systems as key elements of sustainable communities. Our work is primarily focused in British Columbia but also extend to other regions.

Our applied research focuses on the potential of regional food systems in terms of agriculture and food, economics, community health, policy, and environmental integrity. Our extension programming provides information and support for farmers, communities, business, policy makers, and others. Community collaboration is central to our approach.

Citation

Mullinix, K., K. Tatebe, E. Hansen, N. Robert, M. Wijekoon, W. Polasub, S. Smukler, R. Harder, A. Rallings, C. Elton, D. Senese, C. Dorward and M. Kissinger. 2021 "Bringing Our Food System Home: Report on the Okanagan Bioregion Food System Project". Richmond, British Columbia: Institute for Sustainable Food Systems, Kwantlen Polytechnic University.

Corresponding Author

Dr. Kent Mullinix Director, Institute for Sustainable Food Systems Kwantlen Polytechnic University kent.mullinix@kpu.ca

Project Team

Kent Mullinix, Director (ISFS) Wallapak Polasub, Senior Research Associate (ISFS) **Emily Hansen,** *Research Associate (ISFS)* **Naomi Robert,** *Research Associate (ISFS)* Kristi Tatebe, Research Associate (ISFS) Mariko Wijekoon, Research Associate (ISFS)

Research Collaborators

Caitlin Dorward, *Modelling Consultant*

Chea Elton, University of British Columbia - Okanagan - Social Capital **Robin Harder,** Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences - Nutrient Flows Meidad Kissinger, Ben Gurion University of the Negev - Ecological Footprint Anna Rallings, University of California - Merced - Habitat and Carbon Stocks **Sean Smukler,** University of British Columbia - Nutrient Flows **Donna Senese,** University of British Columbia - Okanagan - Social Capital

Bringing Our Food System Home



Report on the Okanagan Bioregion Food System Project

Institute for Sustainable Food Systems

Preface

I am pleased to write this preface to the Okanagan Bioregion Food System Project report.

Projects led by academic institutions like Kwantlen Polytechnic University further the conversation that we all must have to enable a thriving regional agricultural industry and a food-secure population. In utilizing a bioregion approach, the project has stepped beyond artificial boundaries on a map to focus on the shared similarities of climate, culture and place.

The Okanagan is one of the most important and productive agricultural regions in B.C., contributing greatly to the economics of the area and the wellbeing of its residents. Factors such as climate change, demographic shifts and evolving trade relationships can contribute to uncertainty about the future. One thing we know for certain, though, is that we all will need to eat. Agriculture within the Okanagan will continue to play a key role in providing safe and wholesome food. In utilizing different scenarios, the report allows the reader to examine what the future agricultural landscape and regional food self-reliance might look like depending upon the choices our society makes. It's important to understand the impacts that our choices today may have tomorrow with respect to economics, food self-reliance, environmental health and community development.

Regional food systems are important for the economic, social and ecological health of our communities. I'm encouraged that the report highlights the increasing need for agricultural production while using our resources sustainably and minimizing negative environmental impacts. The project encourages expansion of both farming and the regional post-production sector in the Okanagan. This also is a priority of the GrowBC, FeedBC, BuyBC initiatives that have been a key component of the Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Fisheries.



I am committed to collaborating with all stakeholders in enhancing agriculture and helping B.C. producers expand local food production.

The B.C. Food Security Task Force recommended the adoption of the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals. These goals are reflected in this report and include achieving food security and promoting sustainable agriculture. Protecting farmland is critical to the longterm success of the agricultural industry and food security. Additionally, providing opportunities for new entrants and the expansion of existing farmers and processors will support growth within the industry. We have the opportunity to not only capitalize on our strengths but also to develop new approaches and technologies that will aid in enhancing agriculture regionally and provincially.

I'm grateful that Kwantlen Polytechnic University undertook this project. Building awareness of the need for long-term, multi-stakeholder engagement to support the planning and development of sustainable regional food systems is an effort we can all support.

Sincerely,

Lana Popham Minister of Agriculture, Food and Fisheries



Table of Contents

Introduction

The Okanagan Bioregion
Syilx Perspectives: Land, Food and Family
The Food System Challenge
Agriculture in the Okanagan
Food System Modelling
Calculating Food Need

1

5

7

9

10

13

15

20

22

23

24

28

31

32

33

35 35

36 37

Scenarios & Indicators

Food System Scenarios Farmland Price, Use and Access Syilx Diet Change and Health Species at Risk in the Okanagan Food System Indicators Distinguishing Between Food Self-Reliance and Food Security The Economic Impacts of Buying Local Food

Current Conditions

Food Self-Reliance & Consumption Indicators
Food Self-Reliance by Food Group
Climate Change and the Food System
Agriculture & Environment Indicators
Habitat & Carbon Stock Indicators
Economic & Employment Indicators
Connecting Regional Food Systems

2050 Scenario Outcomes 40 Food Self-Reliance & Imports 41 *Out of Sight, Out of Mind: Understanding* externalized food system costs 43 **Ecological Footprint** 44 Does it Grow Here? Social Capital and Regional Food Systems 45 47 **Greenhouse Gas Emissions Nutrient Need & Availability** 48 12 Closing the Nutrient Loop in the Bioregion 49 Agricultural Water Requirements 51 Agriculture Water Use in the Okanagan 52 Meeting Human and Ecosystem Water Needs in Uncertain Conditions 53 Wildlife Habitat Capacity 55 Habitat Connectivity 56 Agriculture Expansion and Wildlife 57 Habitat Impacts **Carbon Stocks** 58 30 **Gross Domestic Product & Tax Revenue** 59 60 The Value of Food Processing **Employment Income & Jobs** 61 Nurturing the Next Generation of Farmers 62 Understanding Food System Trade-offs 63 **Shaping Our Food System** 66

Planning for an Uncertain Future	67
Regional Food System Roadmap	68
Principles for Regional Food System Development	71
Endnotes	75
Acknowledgements	80

Introduction

The Okanagan Bioregion

The Okanagan bioregion lies within the traditional, unceded territories of the Syilx Okanagan Peoples. The northern portion of the Okanagan bioregion is also home to the Splatsin band of the Secwépemc Nation.

Since time immemorial, the Syilx Okanagan People have stewarded these lands according to their laws, customs, values, governance structures, and principles. Teachings in the *captikwl** (stories) provide instructions on how to live on and relate to the land so that future generations may continue to thrive in harmony with the *tmix*^w (all living things)¹. Generation after generation, Syilx Okanagan Peoples were self-reliant in this region, maintaining sustainable foodways that were rich in wild and foraged foods until the recent onset of colonization brought both the dispossession and degradation of their lands.

We recognize that the policies and practices of colonization have significantly impacted the ability of the Syilx Okanagan Peoples to engage in their traditional foodways. With this work, we imagine a future food system for the Okanagan bioregion that addresses the harmful colonial legacy and advances the potential for Indigenous self-determination, leadership and food sovereignty. This study does not include the potential of wild and foraged foods in its consideration of food selfreliance. These are at the core of Indigenous foodways and should be considered in future research and local food system development.

How is the Okanagan Bioregion Defined?

Bioregions are areas that share the same natural ecosystems and human culture. Defining a bioregion considers both the human and natural elements of the landscape, including the ecology, topography, water flows, economies and regional identities. Looking at food systems through a bioregional lens links human activities to the places that sustain them, recognizing that the health and well-being of humans and ecosystems are not separate outcomes, but inextricably linked. The bioregional scale is a functional scale to discuss and plan for food systems. It is small enough to promote coordinated planning, yet large enough to include the breadth of activities that make up the food system.

For this project, the Okanagan bioregion is defined as the three contiguous regional districts of the Okanagan (North Okanagan, Central Okanagan, and Okanagan -Similkameen). This area represents the valley between the Coast and Columbia mountains, drained by Okanagan Lake and its tributaries. Most contemporary settlements are located along the shores of Okanagan Lake, which, as a primary source of water in the hottest and driest region of the province, represents the lifeline for ecological integrity and the human economy.

Map of the Okanagan Bioregion

For this study the Okanagan bioregion is defined as the three contiguous regional districts of North Okanagan, Central Okanagan and Okanagan - Similkameen.

> Kelowna Regional District of Central Okanagan

Penticton

Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen

*nsyilxcən terms and English translations are as they appear on the Okanagan Nation Alliance (ONA) website <u>www.syilx.org</u>. Indigenous Peoples of the Okanagan are the exclusive owners of their cultural and intellectual properties which is used in this report only through free, prior and informed consent in keeping with the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP).

Regional District of North Okanagan

Vernon



Syilx Perspectives: Land, Food and Family

Way'

I am happy to help introduce this Okanagan-based bioregional food initiative.

Land, food, family: for me and for Syilx Okanagan People, these are tightly woven together. k^{w} alncutn, the Creator, put us here and gave us the sacred responsibility to care for $tmix^{w}$ (all living things). For time immemorial, our knowledge institutions were based on knowing, respecting, and being sustained by these $tmx^{w}ulax^{w}$ (lands) and these $siwtk^{w}$ (waters). This understanding was transmitted through our *captikwt* which are an ancient oral record of our people.

The Syilx Okanagan People are deeply rooted in this beautiful place. We are a distinct and sovereign Nation sharing the same land, *nsyilxcan* language, and culture. We are a transboundary people separated at the 49th parallel by the border between Canada and the United States. Our Syilx Okanagan Nation includes 7 member bands in B.C. and the Colville Confederated Tribes in northern Washington State. As caretakers of the land, it is our responsibility to act such that future generations may eat from these same places. This is how we thrived here for hundreds of generations. We do not think in terms of 10 or 20 years. We think in terms of those who are yet to be born. That is the lens. The decisions we make today affect our children, grandchildren, and all the children yet to be.

Many of our people have been fighting back against the loss of lands and access to traditional foodways for decades. The En'owkin Centre and the Okanagan Nation Alliance (ONA) are two Syilx Okanagan institutions that have been at the forefront of work to reclaim Indigenous food sovereignty and rejuvenate Syilx Okanagan foods and ecosystems for the well-being of our communities today, tomorrow, and always.

The ONA has been active in a wide range of traditional food security initiatives whether it is hosting on-the-land camps that support the sharing of harvesting practices or the long process of restoring *n'titx*^w (Salmon Chief) to our waterways. Three decades ago, the sockeye salmon of the Okanagan basin were on the verge of extinction due to dams and poor water management by governments on both sides of the border. Salmon numbers were so low that it was only a matter of time. But our Syilx Okanagan leaders had a different vision. For us, salmon is central to connections between generations, communities, humans and non-humans, terrestrial and aquatic species, and transboundary watersheds. Our people called upon *n'titx*^w through song and ceremony. The ONA spearheaded partnership and years of hard work that finally brought our sockeye back in record numbers.





Harvesting, like gardening, is grassroots and we honor those community members who quietly go about the work of gathering and sustaining their families through our traditional Indigenous foodways despite the challenges and limitations brought about by the current colonial system. We honour the stewardship and sacred responsibilities that are passed from generation to generation. We honour this bioregional project because it is about a different future for everyone. A regional perspective is grounded in the land under our feet. Healthy ecosystems mean healthy people. This work is both a responsibility and an opportunity.

For the good of all, for all time.

-suiki?st, Pauline Terbasket

Executive Director, Okanagan Nation Alliance



"The work of shifting the Okanagan to a more regionally focused food system is a step towards reconnecting all of us to the land and its rhythms. This is part of the decolonization process that is challenging and painful—but so necessary. It is in line with the fundamental Syilx Okanagan principle that to care for the land is to care for the people."

The Food System Challenge

Food systems are the resources, people, and activities that provide communities with food. This includes the flows of materials, knowledge, money and labour involved in farming, fishing, hunting, food distribution, processing, retail, preparation, and waste management. Our dominant food system relies on a highly globalized network of food supply chains that primarily aim to maximize output and profit. Efforts to increase efficiencies in this food system have resulted in market consolidation and concentration. For example, in Canada five companies control 80% of the grocery retail market², and two companies hold 40% of Canada's commercial bread-making market³. Globally, four companies control over 60% of global seed and pesticide sales^{4,5}. This concentrated and globalized food system has supported many extractive practices at great social, environmental and economic costs, including;

Losses for the local economy: Residents in the Okanagan spend approximately \$1.4 billion on food annually^{6,7}, however most of this does not stay in the local economy as it is spent on imported food and non-locally owned business.

Increased local vulnerability to disruptions:

Consolidation and concentration in food supply chains increases local exposure to global changes and crises. This has been highlighted by the COVID-19 pandemic. Virus outbreaks in two of Canada's largest meat processing facilities, representing 70% of Canada's federally-licensed beef processing capacity⁸, forced facilities to close temporarily and reduce their operating capacity. This had notable impacts across the supply chain⁹ and underscored the vulnerability associated with the erosion of local food processing capacity.

Increased gross farm profits, but not farmer livelihoods: While overall agricultural productivity and gross revenues in Canada have increased over the last 50 years, farmer livelihoods have remained stagnant, or declined, as agribusiness input suppliers and service providers capture larger portions of farm income^{10,11}. Today, many farmers depend on off-farm income and/or taxpayer funded farm support programs to make ends meet¹².

Eroding ecological health: Globally and locally, unsustainable farming practices and efforts to continuously increase production have resulted in freshwater pollution, soil erosion, and biodiversity loss. In B.C. and the Okanagan, the conversion of native habitats to agriculture has had significant impacts on biodiversity. For example, 11% of the grasslands in B.C.'s Southern Interior have been converted for agriculture. Agriculture has also been a primary driver behind the loss of 63% of the Okanagan's black cottonwood ecosystems and 75% of the wetlands in the Okanagan and Fraser River Delta¹³.

The Opportunity of Regional Food Systems

Communities, governments and citizens are increasingly looking to regional food system alternatives to address the complex social, economic and ecological challenges described above. Evidence suggests that regional food systems can increase local economic benefits as food expenditures are captured locally¹⁴, increase transparency between food system practices and impacts¹⁵, promote value chains with more equitable outcomes¹⁶, and encourage deeper public engagement and relationship building in communities¹⁷.

While there is growing interest in regional food system development, local-level data and information describing the economic, social and ecological outcomes of such a food system remain sparse. This project aims to address this gap by providing information specific to the Okanagan that can guide data-driven conversations among communities and decision-makers seeking to strengthen regional food systems.



Agriculture in the Okanagan

The Okanagan bioregion is home to some of the best quality farmland in B.C. The semi-arid climate is suitable for production of a wide range of crops and livestock. This includes tree fruit and wine grapes, which grow well in few other regions in Canada. Nearly 50% of the farms in the Okanagan bioregion grow tree and vine fruits, collectively accounting for 24% of the cultivated land area. Fruit and wine grape production also contribute significantly to the economy. The interior tree fruit industry generates an estimated \$130 million annually in wholesale revenue, and contributes \$900 million to the provincial economy¹⁸. B.C.'s wine sector, which is also primarily located in the Okanagan, contributes an estimated \$2.8 billion dollars to the provincial economy annually¹⁹.

The bioregion also produces livestock products including dairy, poultry, eggs, and beef. Land for pasture, hay, silage and livestock feed grain production accounts for 62% of the currently cultivated area in the bioregion. While a relatively small number of farms produce dairy and poultry, production from these supply-managed sectors in the bioregion is significant. Much of the beef cattle and forage production is located in the North Okanagan, as well as in the Similkameen watershed. The region also produces vegetables, small fruit and berries, root crops, and grains for human consumption. Due to the semi-arid climate and limited summer precipitation, crop production relies on irrigation through most of the growing season.

In 2016, there were 3,210 farms in the bioregion. The majority of these were small, family-type farms, operating on less than 70 acres, and earning less than \$100,000 in annual gross farm receipts²⁰. Agriculture sectors in the bioregion employed 12,754 people in 2016, which amounts to 28% of the province's farmworkers²¹. Agriculture, particularly the tree fruit sector, relies on an influx of seasonal workers during the growing season. Tree fruit sectors alone employ approximately 7,500 temporary seasonal workers annually²².



Colonialism & Agriculture

This report addresses food self-reliance based on the agricultural capacity in the Okanagan bioregion. While agriculture is a foundational component of settler society, it is not central to the traditional foodways of the Syilx Okanagan and Secwépemc Peoples²³. However, some Indigenous cultures have, and continue to, engage in different forms of food cultivation, there is a strong tension between agricultural-based food systems and traditional, Indigenous foodways.

It must be acknowledged that agriculture has been used as a colonial instrument to dispossess Indigenous people of their land throughout Canada's history²⁴. At the same time, extractive colonial economies, including agriculture, have stripped much of the lands and waters accessible to Indigenous Peoples of their ecological integrity and productive capacity.

Indigenous food sovereignty—the rights of Indigenous Peoples to determine and practice the foodways that best support the physical and spiritual health of their communities—is critical to reconciling Canada's colonial legacy. This is in line with the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP) as stated in Article 20: "Indigenous peoples have the right to maintain and develop their political, economic and social systems or institutions, to be secure in the enjoyment of their own means of subsistence and development, and to engage freely in all their traditional and other economic activities. Indigenous peoples deprived of their means of subsistence and development are entitled to just and fair redress"²⁵.

Indigenous food sovereignty is critical to advancing a food system that is nourishing for all people. Recognizing the colonial role of agriculture and working toward a sustainable future where both settler and Indigenous communities can practice their chosen foodways, including hunting, fishing and gathering, is key to moving forward.

Food System Modelling

The food system and its outcomes are influenced by many overlapping forces and trends, including population growth, land use, shifting diets, consumer preferences, market forces, political will, and climate change. The decisions we make today and how we react to changing circumstances will have an impact on our future food systems. This project highlights the opportunity of regional food system development in the Okanagan, while also demonstrating the trade-offs embedded in our food system decisions. The objective is to inform data-driven conversations around the trajectory of food system development by imagining alternative futures that may be overlooked in the current economic and political environment in B.C.

This is the second study of its kind, following the Southwest B.C. Bioregion Food System Design Project, completed in 2016²⁶.

A series of research briefs accompanying this report provide additional information on the following topics:

- Food self-reliance modelling
- Water supply and demand
- Impacts of agriculture on wildlife and biodiversity
- Impacts of agriculture on carbon stocks
- Economic impacts of regional food systems
- Social capital and regional food systems
- Regional food value chain development
- Nutrient management
- Food system policy

The Food System Model

This project uses computational models to assess food system outcomes. There are three models that collectively generate the food self-reliance, environmental and economic data:

- A food self-reliance model estimates the percentage of the bioregional food need that can be satisfied by local crop and livestock production
- An environmental conservation model measures the impacts of agriculture on habitat quality
- An economic input-output model assesses the economic potential associated with different food system scenarios

The data produced by these models are not predictive. Model outputs are best used to compare between scenarios to understand trends and relative impacts, rather than describe definitive outcomes. The models operate with the following key conditions, or assumptions:

- Crop and livestock production take place on land in the Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR), with the exception of cattle grazing, which can take place on suitable grazing land outside of the ALR
- People in the bioregion choose local food whenever available
- Food produced locally first goes to feed the local population before being exported
- For all regionalized scenarios, feed grain and silage for livestock are imported and therefore not produced in the bioregion
- Economic conditions are similar to 2016

Calculating Food Need

Despite a widespread interest in dietary habits and food self-reliance, there is no data that thoroughly tracks food consumption patterns in B.C. or Canada. This project estimated food need for a "typical" diet in Canada by combining two datasets. The first tracks the stocks and flows of food commodities across the country, and is used as a proxy for Canadian food preferences. The second provides nutrition recommendations to the Canadian public by age and sex. Our method assumes that residents continue to eat foods that cannot be grown locally (e.g., mango) and eat fresh foods out of their season of local availability (e.g., fresh strawberries in January). The foods modelled included:

Fruits and Vegetables

Apple, can

Apple, drie Apple, fres

Apple, from

Apple, jui

Apple, pie

Apple, sau Apricot, ca

Apricot, fr

Asparagus

Asparagus

Avocado,

Banana, f

Bean, gree

Bean, gree

Bean, gree

Beet, canr

Beet, fres

Be

ned	Blueberry, canned
d	Blueberry, fresh
h	Blueberry, frozen
en	Broccoli, fresh
2	Broccoli, frozen
illing	Brussel sprouts, fresh
e	Brussel sprouts, frozen
nned	Cabbage, fresh
sh	Carrot, canned
canned	Carrot, fresh
fresh	Carrot, frozen
esh	Cauliflower, fresh
sh	Cauliflower, frozen
n, canned	Celery, fresh
n, fresh	Cherry, fresh
n, frozen	Cherry, frozen
ed	Coconut, fresh
	Corn, canned

Meat and Alternatives	Milk and Alternatives
Bean, canned	Buttermilk
Beef	Buttermilk, powder
Chicken	Cheese, cheddar
Egg	Cheese, cottage
Mutton and lamb	Cheese, processed
Peanut	Cheese, variety
Pork	Chocolate milk
Turkey	Milk, partly skimmed 1%
	Milk, partly skimmed 2%
	Milk, skim
	Milk, skim, concentrated
	Milk, skim, powder
	Milk, standard 3.25%
	Milk. whole. concentrated

n, fresh	Mushroom, fresh	Potato, sweet, fresh
n, frozen	Onion, fresh	Potato, white, fresh
nberry, fresh	Orange, fresh	Pumpkin and squash, fresh
umber, fresh	Orange, juice	Radish, fresh
e, fresh	Papaya, fresh	Raspberry, frozen
fresh	Pea, canned	Rutabaga, fresh
pe, fresh	Pea, fresh	Shallot, fresh
pe, juice	Pea, frozen	Spinach, frozen
pefruit, fresh	Peach, canned	Strawberry, canned
pefruit, juice	Peach, fresh	Strawberry, fresh
va, fresh	Pear, canned	Strawberry, frozen
ion, fresh	Pear, fresh	Tomato, canned
ion, juice	Pepper, fresh	Tomato, fresh
uce, fresh	Pineapple, canned	Tomato, juice
e, fresh	Pineapple, fresh	Tomato, pulp, paste, puree
ngo, fresh	Pineapple, juice	Turnip, fresh
nioc, fresh	Plum, fresh	
shroom, canned	Potato, frozen	
	Fat and Oils	Grains
	Butter	Barley
	Margarine	Corn flour and meal
	Salad oils	Oats
	Shortening	Rice
		Rye
		Wheat



Scenarios & Indicators

This project models a series of future "what-if" scenarios to explore the potential of regional food system development in the Okanagan bioregion. Each scenario reports a suite of indicators to illustrate the outcomes and trade-offs associated with food system trends and decisions.

Food System Scenarios

This project models eight unique food system scenarios. The first scenario (Food System 2016) models the existing food system conditions in 2016. This presents a picture of the current food system, and acts as a baseline against which other scenarios can be compared.

By 2050, population growth and climate change will have an impact on the Okanagan's food system. How these, and other changes, shape the food system in the bioregion over the next 30 years, and beyond is still unknown. Today's decisions and actions will have significant effects on how the food system takes shape along with its social, ecological and economic outcomes. The "what if" scenarios for 2050 modelled in this study do not aim to predict the future, but rather explore hypothetical food system trajectories with the goal of illustrating the outcomes and trade-offs embedded in our decisions.

Scenarios at a Glance



Food System 2016 Scenario (2016)

Population: 362,000 people Food need: 332,000 tonnes Land in production: 40,000 hectares Food production: 236,000 tonnes Food production system: current (2016)

What are the current food self-reliance, environmental and economic outcomes of the Okanagan food system?

The Food System 2016 scenario uses available data from 2016 to model conditions that most closely align with the existing food system in the Okanagan bioregion, including current agricultural practices and food production.



Population Growth in the Okanagan

The population in the bioregion is estimated to increase to 517,000 by the year 2050²⁷. The Regional District of Central Okanagan (RDCO) is currently the most populous region in the Okanagan, and the area where the most population growth is anticipated. The population in the RDCO is projected to increase by approximately 60%. Population in the Regional District of North Okanagan and the Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen are estimated to increase by 30% and 20%, respectively.

Business as Usual Scenario (Business as Usual)

Population: 517,000 people Food need: 479,000 tonnes Land in production: 40,000 hectares Food production: 236,000 tonnes Food production system: current (2016)

The population in the bioregion is expected to increase by approximately 40% by the year 2050. What if the local population and food need increases, but there is no change to the amount or types of food produced locally?

This scenario explores a food system in the year 2050, where the population and associated food need increases while the agriculture sector in the bioregion remains as it is in 2016. In this scenario, there is no change in the types or quantities of food produced, or the amount of land used for food production.

Farmland Loss Scenario (Farmland Loss)

Population: 517,000 people Food need: 479,000 tonnes Land in production: 32,000 hectares Food production: 189,000 tonnes Food production system: current (2016)

Population growth, farmland prices, and climate change will continue to have an impact on the availability and use of farmland in the bioregion into the future. What if we do not protect and utilize this resource?

How different factors might individually or collectively impact the availability and accessibility of land for food production in 2050 is uncertain. To illustrate the food system impacts of farmland loss, this scenario models a 20% (8,000 hectare) reduction in the land area available to produce food in 2050, relative to the 2016 scenario.

Farmland Price, Use and Access

The affordability of farmland has implications for the region's capacity to produce food. While B.C.'s Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR) aims to protect farmland by regulating land use activities, protection alone is not sufficient to ensure its use for agriculture^{28,29}. Currently, approximately 50% of land protected in the ALR is not used for food production³⁰. While some of this land is natural, a significant portion is used for non-farming activities such as rural estate development or golf courses.

The high cost of farmland is seen as one of the key contributors to its use for non-farming purposes, particularly in areas close to urban centres. In these regions, a combination of land use competition, fiscal policies and speculative ownership can exert upward price pressures on farmland³¹. As land prices increase beyond the means of farmers, it is effectively removed from the land base available for food production.

In 2019, Farm Credit Canada reported farmland prices in the Okanagan as high as \$103,000/acre³², the most expensive in the province. Farmland prices in B.C. have increased an average of 10% annually between 2009 and 2017³³. Over the same period, farmer incomes in many sectors have remained relatively constant at levels that are often insufficient to support families and carry the large mortgages required to purchase land. For example, the net operating income for fruit and nut farms in B.C. over this period of time ranged from approximately \$17,000 to \$60,000 annually³⁴.

Ensuring the next generation of farmers can access land is critical to supporting the long term viability of agriculture in B.C. In the Okanagan, fewer than 9% of farmers have a written succession plan to ensure the land is farmed after their retirement³⁵. While renting is often used as a strategy to address land access where prices are prohibitive, renting farmland is not a long-term solution to this challenge. Policies and programs to maintain the affordability of farmland for new entrant farmers are important measures to ensure the viability of agriculture into the future.

Policy Area: Supporting Farmland Access for Farmers

Maintaining Farmland Affordability:

In France, Sociétés d'Aménagement Foncier et d'Établissement Rural (SAFER) are regional agencies, composed of local and national governments, farmer's organizations, and financial cooperatives that support rural economic development and farmland protection. SAFERs have the pre-emptive right to buy farmland on the market in order to resell it to interested farmers. They can also suggest a lower price if the asking price is judged to be higher than market value for agricultural use³⁶.

Facilitating Land Access for Farmers:

The Toronto Region Conservation Authority (TRCA) has partnered with community non-profits and farms to establish and support four farms on public lands, facilitating both access to land for urban growers and farmer training. The farms range from 3-15 ha and host education and training programs as well as produce vegetables for sale to the local community³⁷. Systemic inequities that disproportionately present land access barriers for racialized and Indigenous communities are central considerations in this area.



Regionalized Food Production Scenario (Regionalized)

Population: 517,000 people Food need: 479,000 tonnes Land in production: 40,000 hectares Food production: 302,000 tonnes Food production system: regionalized

In 2016, over 230,000 tonnes of food was imported to meet local food needs. What if local food production shifted to better meet the food needs and preferences of the local population?

This scenario explores the outcomes of shifting to a mix of crop and livestock production in the bioregion that best meets local food needs. A regionalized food production system aims to first and foremost satisfy the dietary needs and preferences of the local population. In this scenario, land dedicated to crops currently produced for export, such as tree fruit, is reduced to increase production of foods to satisfy local food need. The total land base available for food production remains the same as in 2016.

Scenarios that model a regionalized food system assume that food processing, storage and distribution capacity exist in the bioregion to deliver locally produced food to local consumers.

Feeding the Okanagan with Regionalized Food Production

A regionalized food production system aims to produce a mix of crop and livestock to most efficiently meet local food needs on the available agricultural land base. With a shift to regionalized food production in 2050, there is an increase in production across all food types, with the exception of fruit. Fruit production, which is primarily for export, decreases by 80%. Food system modelling does not consider wine grapes to be a food crop. Therefore the area dedicated to wine grape production is reallocated to food production for local consumption.

Total Food Production in 2016 and Regionalized Scenarios



Maintain Export Production Scenario (Mantain Exports)

Population: 517,000 people Food need: 479,000 tonnes Land in food production: 40,000 hectares Food production: 373,000 tonnes Food production system: regionalized

Apple, sweet cherry and wine grape are significant production sectors in the Okanagan. What if the production of these fruit crops was maintained while th bioregion shifts to regionalized food production?

Tree fruit and wine grape production is important to the regional identity and economy in the Okanagan, which is one of the few regions in Canada well suited for the production of these crops. In 2016, apple, swe cherry and wine grape production accounted for 8,580 ha of cultivated area (21% of the total cultivated area) Currently, most of what is produced locally is exported from the bioregion or used in the production of wine and other beverages that do not contribute to food self-reliance. This scenario explores the outcomes of a 2050 regionalized food system if the area dedicated to apple, sweet cherry and wine grape production were maintained at 2016 levels.

Change Local Diets Scenario (Change Diets)

Population: 517,000 people Food need: 440,000 tonnes Land in food production: 40,000 hectares Food production: 226,000 tonnes Food production system: regionalized

he	Assuming jooa production continues to prioritize local jood need, what if people living in the bioregion adopt more environmentally sustainable diets?
et 0	There is growing consumer awareness about the health and environmental impacts of the types of food we eat. This is signaled by the increased popularity of plant-based diets, emerging markets for alternative protein products, as well as recent changes to dietary recommendations in Canada's Food Guide ³⁸ .
). d a o	This scenario compares the baseline diet, used for all other scenarios, with an alternative diet that decreases the consumption of livestock products (dairy, eggs, meat). This "Planetary Health Diet" is based on the work of the EAT Lancet Commission, and is designed to meet global human and environmental health targets. Dietary recommendations in the new Canada Food Guide closely resemble the Planetary Health Diet modelled by the EAT Lancet Commission ³⁹ .

Comparing Different Diets

Baseline Diet

This diet is based on two sources of information, the old Canada Food Guide (prior to 2019) and the "Food Available in Canada" dataset from Statistics Canada. The Food Guide provides nutrition recommendations by age and sex to determine dietary needs. The Statistics Canada dataset tracks stocks and flows of food commodities in Canada and is used as a proxy for Canadian food preferences⁴⁰. With the exception of the change diets scenario, all scenarios model a baseline diet.

Planetary Health Diet

This diet is based on the EAT Lancet Commission's Planetary Health Diet, created to optimize human health and environmental sustainability. This diet prioritizes plant-based foods, consisting primarily of a diversity of vegetables, fruits, whole grains, legumes, nuts and seeds. Animal proteins, saturated fats, refined grains, highly processed foods and added sugars are limited⁴¹.

Diet Choice

It is important to note shifting diets is not only a matter of personal choice or consumer preference. Health, financial, or cultural factors influence the adoption of alternative diets. For example, alternative protein sources promoted by the Planetary Health Diet may not be affordable, available, or culturally appropriate to all people.

Baseline Diet Composition

Percentage of diet satisfied by different food groups.



Planetary Health Diet Composition

Percentage diet satisfied by different food groups.



Syilx Diet Change and Health

Prior to contact with European settlers, the Syilx Okanagan People enjoyed a diet rich in wild and foraged foods including an abundance of salmon and game, berries, plants, and nourishing roots. *N'titx*^w (salmon) is one of the four food chiefs of the Syilx Okanagan People and is central to their culture. Prior to colonization, *n'titx*^w was a dietary staple and prized trade good with Indigenous tribes from as far away as the Prairies. Colonial policies and practices stripped Syilx Okanagan Peoples of access to much of their traditional lands and severely restricted the ability of Indigenous communities to hunt, fish and gather traditional foods. These same colonial policies and practices also degraded ecosystems and reduced the abundance of Indigenous foods to the point of causing the near extinction of the salmon runs that had supported the Syilx Okanagan for time immemorial. The shift to Western diets, high in ultra-processed foods with sugar, fats, and salt, have resulted in poor health outcomes for Indigenous Peoples in the Okanagan bioregion and across Canada^{42,43}.

Leadership from the Okanagan Nation Alliance has resulted in the restoration of *n'titx*^w in the Okanagan River system. There has also been a reintroduction of a local food fishery to improve health outcomes for Nation members as well as revive important cultural practices⁴⁴. Encouragingly, recent research conducted in Syilx Okanagan communities suggests that consuming even a modest amount of traditional foods can improve the overall diet quality of individuals⁴⁵.



Expand Land for Food Production Scenario (Expand Land)

Population: 517,000 people Food need: 479,000 tonnes Land in production: 70,000 hectares Food production: 361,000 tonnes Food production system: regionalized

Only a portion of the bioregion's agricultural land is currently used to grow food. What if food production expands to all areas suitable for agriculture?

This scenario expands food production onto all land suitable for agriculture in the bioregion, increasing the cultivated land base by approximately 30,000 ha. Agricultural production in the Okanagan is dependent on access to irrigation water. To highlight this constraint, the expansion of agricultural production is limited to ALR land that is reasonably close to a water supply. While this scenario illustrates some land-based constraints to agricultural expansion, the availability of water and the maintenance of ecological flows must be carefully considered in the Okanagan's food system future.

Mitigate Habitat Impacts Scenario (Mitigate Impacts)

Population: 517,000 people Food need: 479,000 tonnes Land in production: 57,000 hectares Food production: 296,000 tonnes Food production system: regionalized

Agriculture can have negative impacts on wildlife habitats. What if efforts are made to prioritize habitat protection when expanding land for food production?

Much of the agricultural land in the Okanagan not in production is natural grass, shrub, or forested land. These lands are critical to the health of plants, animals, ecosystems and Indigenous foodways. Agriculture has been a primary driver of habitat loss and degradation⁴⁶.

This scenario explores the potential to mitigate some of the habitat related impacts associated with agricultural expansion by protecting critical habitats, and implementing on-farm habitat enhancements such as hedgerows and riparian buffers.





Species at Risk in the Okanagan

The dry pine forests and low-elevation grasslands of the Okanagan bioregion are among the most endangered ecosystems in Canada. These endangered ecosystems are often located in the same productive, rich valley bottoms where human activities, including agriculture, take place. The bioregion is home to more endangered, threatened, and rare amphibians, birds and mammals than any other part of B.C. This includes 30% and 46% of the province's red-listed and blue-listed species at risk, respectively⁵⁰. Among these species at risk are the tiger salamander, great basin spadefoot toad, western rattlesnake, American white pelican, burrowing owl, sage thrasher, pallid bat, badger, grizzly bear, wolverine, and California bighorn sheep. Many of these species exist nowhere else in the world.

Protecting sensitive habitats from degradation is the most effective way to protect biodiversity and species at risk. It is often the reserve lands of Syilx Okanagan communities that have retained the highest concentrations of species at risk in the bioregion. This can be credited to limited agriculture on those lands, and the preservation of critical habitats that help support traditional Indigenous foodways.

Assumptions for Determining Irrigation Access

The availability of water and the maintenance of ecological flows must be carefully considered in the Okangan's food system future. Hypothetical access to irrigation for the Expand Land and Mitigate Impacts scenarios was determined according to criteria adopted from the Provincial Agricultural Water Demand Model irrigation build out⁴⁷. For these scenarios, agricultural production was expanded to include land in the ALR under 750m in elevation and within 2km of a water supplier or within 5km of a major lake. Proximity to a water source does not mean that there will be sufficient available water at the source to satisfy demand and maintain the integrity of freshwater ecosystems. In fact, the majority of streams in the Okanagan are fully allocated, and water suppliers have limited capacity to supply additional agricultural land^{48,49}.

Food System Indicators

Food system indicators illustrate the relative impact of changing important variables such as land available for food production, population size, diet, or habitat protection measures. Throughout this report, indicator values are presented and compared between scenarios to highlight food system outcomes and trade-offs.

Indicators at a Glance

Food Self-Reliance & Consumption Indicators



Agriculture & Environment Indicators



Habitat & Carbon Stock Indicators



Economic & Employment Indicators



Food Self-Reliance & Consumption Indicators



Food Self-Reliance

Measures the proportion of the population's diet that could be satisfied by locally produced food. To measure food self-reliance for this project, it is assumed that all food produced in the bioregion first goes to satisfy bioregional need. Food need is based on a diet that satisfies average Canadian food preferences and Canada's Food Guide recommendations. Food self-reliance is limited to land-based food components of the diet only; fish and seafood, as well as beverages, are excluded.

Food Imports

Measures the commodity weight (tonnes) of crop and livestock products that are imported to the Okanagan bioregion to meet local food need not satisfied by local production.

Ecological Footprint

Measures the area of biologically productive land and sea (biocapacity), in global hectares (gha), required to meet the population's food need and to absorb associated carbon emissions. This includes all of the food consumed; foods grown locally, and food imported from outside the bioregion. Both the total and per capita ecological footprint for food consumed in the bioregion are reported.



Distinguishing Between Food Self-Reliance and Food Security

In this study, food self-reliance is represented as the proportion of the Okanagan population's diet that could be satisfied by bioregionally produced food. It compares the quantity and types of food produced in the bioregion to the dietary requirements of the local population. In this context, it is used as a proxy for food system regionalization, and represents the potential food self-reliance for the bioregion.

Increasing food self-reliance depends on a number of factors beyond agriculture. Land must be available for food production, and there must be infrastructure to process, store and distribute food. Achieving local food self-reliance also requires sufficient skilled labour and is highly dependent on the management of important resources such as water, nutrients and waste. Ecological integrity is therefore critically linked to a region's food self-reliance potential. Of note, this study does not include the potential of the wild and foraged foods that are at the core of Indigenous foodways. This is an area where more work is required through a collaborative approach with Indigenous communities.

Local governments have been increasingly interested in strengthening food self-reliance as a way to improve local food system outcomes. While food self-reliance estimations can help understand the potential of regional food systems, it is not a proxy for food security. Increasing the availability of local food does not ensure food access for all people. In B.C. and across Canada, poverty and financial barriers to food at the household level are the most prevalent causes of food insecurity⁵¹. Food security is also impacted by issues such as housing costs and income inequalities^{52,53}. Pursuing food self-reliance must therefore be done in tandem with efforts to address socio-economic disparities through focused policy efforts.



Agriculture & Environment Indicators

Agriculture Measures the amount (tonnes) of carbon dioxide

Greenhouse Gas Emissions from

equivalents (CO₂e), of three major greenhouse gases (carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide, and methane) from agricultural production in the bioregion. It includes emissions from on-farm fossil fuel use, fertilizer applications for crop production, manure management, and enteric fermentation (digestion) in ruminant livestock.

Crop Nutrient Need

Reports the quantity (tonnes) of nitrogen (N) phosphorus (P) and potassium (K) that need to be added to the soil, through either fertilizers or natural processes, to restore the nutrients removed through crop production in the bioregion.

Nutrient Availability

Reports the quantity (tonnes) of N, P and K contained in organic waste streams in the bioregion that could be recycled to meet crop nutrient needs. Organic waste streams include a variety of waste sources such as livestock manure, food waste, food processing waste, human excreta, etc.

Agricultural Water Requirements

Estimates the volume of water (cubic metres) required for crop irrigation and livestock watering in the bioregion. Water requirements are estimated from the Agricultural Water Demand Model⁵⁴. Irrigation rates assume 'typical' climatic conditions (modelled using precipitation and temperature data from 2010), and average agricultural water management practices. Agricultural water requirements do not include water used for non-production food system activities such as food processing, cooking, etc⁵⁵.

Crop Nutrient Need & Nutrient Availability Indicators

All crops require nutrients to grow. When crops are harvested, nutrients are removed from the soil. Historically, nutrients were replenished from natural processes and organic sources, such as compost or animal manures. Contemporary agriculture largely relies on synthetic fertilizers to replenish soil nutrients. These are often mined from finite resources such as phosphate rock, and potash ore, and produced with fossil fuel intensive processes. The dependence of agriculture on synthetic fertilizers from non-renewable sources is a growing sustainability concern 56,57

Crop nutrient need and nutrient availability indicators are reported for three essential macronutrients, nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P) and potassium (K). Comparing the two indicators illustrates the potential for nutrients from organic waste streams to meet crop nutrient needs, if properly recovered and reused. Recovering nutrients from organic waste streams into agricultural systems can reduce both the potential for environmental pollution, and the dependence of agriculture on synthetic nutrient inputs from non-renewable sources.

Habitat & Carbon Stock Indicators

Wildlife Habitat Capacity Measures the overall value of land cover to regional wildlife as habitat for feeding, breeding, and shelter. The capacity is determined based on the proportions of various types of agricultural and non-agricultural land cover and is rated on a scale of 0 (low) to 100 (high). In this project, Wildlife Habitat Capacity was measured on the ALR land base, which includes both cultivated areas and uncultivated lands with natural vegetation.

Habitat Connectivity

Measures the permeability of the landscape to wildlife. In this study, connectivity is determined by the size and distribution of isolated areas of natural habitat, or patches, in the landscape. These are areas of non-production perennial vegetation such as woodlands, mixed grasslands, hedgerows, and riparian buffers. Connectivity is measured using two values: proximity (average nearest habitat patch) and density (number of habitat patches) in representative sample areas within the bioregion.

Measuring Habitat Quality

The habitat value of the landscape is difficult to measure with a single metric. This study looks at two indicators to examine how well-suited the landscape mosaic is to wildlife (wildlife habitat capacity) and how well distributed and connected natural areas are throughout the region (habitat connectivity). These indicators, in combination with targeted local assessments for species of concern, can help shape the implementation of on-farm practices and critical habitat conservation to support the biodiversity of the Okanagan bioregion.



Carbon Stocks

Measures the amount of carbon stored in aboveground woody, non-production perennial vegetation such as trees and shrubs. This represents carbon that was previously in the atmosphere that is now stored in vegetation (biomass). Carbon stored in the soil and below ground portions of perennial vegetation is not accounted for in this project. Agricultural land and pasture can also store carbon in soil through sustainable practices, however, this complex dynamic is not included in the calculated carbon stocks for this project.

Economic & Employment Indicators



Gross Domestic Product (GDP)

Estimates the monetary value gained for all goods and services associated with primary agriculture, food processing, and other related industries. It reflects the difference between the value of final products and the value of the input or intermediate costs of production.

Tax Revenue

Estimates the value of federal, provincial, and municipal tax revenue collected from individuals and businesses involved in the bioregion's food system. Provincial and federal tax revenues include personal and corporation income taxes, PST, GST, other commodity taxes (such as gas tax), and taxes on factors of production (such as licences). Municipal tax revenues include taxes on production (such as business licences), and property taxes.

Employment Income

Measures the gross income earned by employees in primary agriculture, food processing and other related industries. This includes income earned by self-employed persons and unincorporated businesses.

Jobs

Estimates the number of full-time equivalent (FTE) jobs generated in agriculture, food processing and related food system sectors in the bioregion. The measure accounts for seasonal/ temporary, part-time, and full-time positions. 1 FTE is calculated based on a full-time employee working 35 hours per week for 50 weeks (1,750 hours) per year.

Economic Analysis

This project uses the Regional Input-Output (I-O) model of British Columbia to estimate economic impacts. The I-O model categorizes economic impacts into three types:

- **Direct impacts:** measure economic activity from food production and processing.
- **Indirect impacts:** measure economic activity from supplier industries in the supply chain.
- Induced impacts: measure economic activity from food production and supplier industry employees spending their earnings.

Indicators report the total economic impacts, which are the sum of direct, indirect, and induced impacts. The economic impacts in this study are limited to the impacts of food commodities. For example, economic impacts of the winemaking industry are not considered beyond the production of grapes.



The Economic Impacts of Buying Local Food

In a 2018 survey of B.C. residents, 80% of respondents cited supporting the local economy as a motivation for buying local food⁵⁸. In another recent consumer survey collecting information about food access concerns and perceptions during the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic, B.C. residents indicated that they wished to support local producers and see more locally grown products available at an affordable price⁵⁹. When food expenditures are dedicated to non-local businesses and imports, the majority of these dollars leave the community by the end of the business day⁶⁰. However, when a food system is dominated by locally owned businesses, with consumers choosing local food more often, food expenditures are more readily recirculated in the local economy. For example, expenditures at a locally owned grocery store that sources local products can help support farmers in the region, who in turn support local businesses by purchasing supplies and inputs and acquiring services such as equipment repair. In this way, money can exchange hands several times within the community, increasing the economic benefit to the region. Buying local food also encourages the establishment of new food system businesses that support local food processing, distribution and retail⁶¹.

The I-O model can help us estimate regional economic impacts of increased consumer purchase of local food. If, for example, consumers in the bioregion double the amount of spending on locally grown fresh food including fruit, vegetable, egg, meat and dairy products, this results directly in increased regional economic activities. Total regional GDP is estimated to increase by \$14 million; total employment income by \$9 million, and tax revenue by \$2 million. In addition, 222 additional full-time equivalent jobs would be created locally.







This section reports the results of the Food System 2016 scenario, which models current food system conditions, including present day agricultural practices and food system activities.

Current Conditions

Food Self-Reliance & **Consumption Indicators**

Food Self-Reliance: 38%

Food Imports: 223.000 tonnes

To meet additional food need not satisfied by locally produced food, 223,000 tonnes of imported food were required.

Based on crop and livestock production, the bioregion

could satisfy 38% of the dietary requirements of the local



population.

Ecological Footprint: total: 470,000 gha per capita: 1.3 gha

The total ecological footprint of food consumed in 2016 is 470,000 global hectares (gha). Based on the population of the bioregion in 2016 this translates to an ecological footprint of 1.3 gha per person for food consumed.



Ecological Footprint of Food and the "Fair Earth Share"

It is estimated that 1.6 ghaper person is available to meet all our resource needs: food, shelter, clothing, transportation, etc. This is known as the "Fair Earth Share". Based on our current patterns of consumption in Canada, per capita ecological footprint is 8.1 gha on average⁶². Considering other needs, it is estimated that food needs should account for approximately 25% of our total ecological footprint⁶³. In the Okanagan, the ecological footprint of food currently accounts for 81% of the "Fair Earth Share". Reducing the ecological footprint associated with food, and reducing consumption in other areas, is necessary to bring our ecological footprint in closer alignment with the "Fair Earth Share".

Food Self-Reliance by Food Group

Food self-reliance is not the same for every food group. In the 2016 scenario, food self-reliance for the total diet is 38%. However, the food self-reliance for some food groups, particularly dairy and poultry, is much higher. Comparatively, the potential food self-reliance in grain, legumes and eggs show that current production is much lower than the dietary requirements of the local population.

The Okanagan is a significant producer of tree fruits. In 2016, 143,000 tonnes of fruit was produced, which far exceeds the population's food need. However, potential food self-reliance for fruit was only 34%. Since local diets were modelled to reflect local consumption patterns, they include fruit that is eaten out of season as well as fruit that cannot be produced in the bioregion (e.g. tropical fruit and citrus).

When food production is regionalized to meet local food need, food self-reliance for the total diet increases to 69%, but food self-reliance does not increase equally across all food groups. Even with a larger population, the bioregion could reach 100% food self-reliance in eggs and poultry and increase food self-reliance in dairy to 92%. It is important to note that high levels of food self-reliance for animal products rely on imported feed grain for livestock.

In the regionalized scenario food self-reliance for fruit increased from 34% in 2016 to 37%. For vegetables food self-reliance increases from 14% in 2016 to 68%. While these foods can be grown efficiently in the bioregion the level of food self-reliance depends on the dietary preferences of the local population. As long as people in the bioregion continue to consume fresh fruits and vegetables during winter months, and foods that cannot be grown in the bioregion, it is not possible to further increase food self-reliance for these food groups.

Food Self-Reliance for the Okanagan in 2016

Percentage of local diets satisfied by locally produced food.



Food Self-Reliance for a Regionalized Food System in the Okanagan in 2050

Percentage of local diets satisfied by locally produced food.



Climate Change and the Food System

The impacts of climate change are already being felt in the Okanagan bioregion. Three of the most severe wildfire seasons (2003, 2017, 2018) have taken place in the past 13 years⁶⁴. The year 2017 also brought severe flooding to Kalamalka Lake, while flooding in Okanagan Lake and its tributaries are occurring year after year⁶⁵. By the 2050's, climate change in the bioregion is expected to bring;

Warmer temperatures year round: While temperatures are expected to increase year round, summer and fall temperatures are increasing faster than other seasons.

Hotter summers: The number of days per year with temperatures of 30°C or more is expected to increase by more than three times, from a regional average of 6 to 22 days.

Warmer winters and less snowfall: The average number of days per year where temperatures remain below 0°C is expected to decrease from 73 to 44. Warmer winter temperatures are expected to reduce winter snowpack.

Less summer precipitation: While the average annual precipitation is expected to increase, the majority of this increase will occur during spring and fall. Summers are expected to become drier.

More frequent extreme events: Increased instances of wildfires, droughts, floods and landslides are expected as the region experiences more intense cold season rain events, reduced summer precipitation and increased summer temperatures.

Climate change presents significant challenges for agriculture in the bioregion. These include increasing water demand, reduced water supply, changing crop suitability, changes in pest species and pest population dynamics, droughts, floods, heat stress, etc. While climate change is expected to increase the length of the growing season and can present opportunities for certain crops, the combined impact of these climatic changes will also challenge the productivity and viability of the sector. Recognizing and accounting for climatic shifts will be critical for food system planning into the 21st century.

Policy Area: Climate Change Mitigation in the Food System

Provide Support for Regenerative Agriculture:

Park City, Utah has identified regeneration as one of four priority areas in local climate and sustainability planning, with a focus on increasing carbon sequestration in agricultural soils and protected open space. In 2018, the City began to explore the use of regenerative agriculture* practices on city-owned land to increase carbon capture potential in soils and help address local greenhouse gas emission reduction targets⁶⁶. They have introduced cattle and rotational grazing to control noxious weeds, restore soil and improve ecosystem health.

Invest in Waste-to-Energy Infrastructure Development:

A waste to energy plant in the City of Surrey, built in 2014 has the capacity to process 115,000 tonnes of organic waste annually⁶⁷. The facility is the largest of its kind in North America and has the potential to advance waste diversion objectives in Metro Vancouver's Integrated Solid Waste and Resource Management Plan. The facility processes organic waste into renewable natural gas and compost that is available for purchase for residential and agricultural applications.

*Regenerative agriculture aims to improve soil health, sequester carbon, increase biodiversity and reduce dependence on external inputs. This includes farming practices such as reduced tillage, integrated livestock, cover cropping, and biologically-based pest management.



Agriculture & Environment Indicators

Greenhouse Gas Emissions from

In 2016, agriculture in the bioregion produced a total of

113,000 tonnes of CO₂e. The total emissions produced

from agriculture in the bioregion represent approximatley

Agriculture: 113,000 tonnes of CO₂e

Crop Nutrient Need: 10,800 tonnes Nutrient Availability: 14,100 tonnes

5% of B.C.'s total greenhouse gas emissions from

agriculture for 2016⁶⁸.

Nutrients available in organic waste streams, such as manure, food waste, and human excreta, are greater than crop nutrient needs for N, P and K. Recovering these nutrients for crop production in the bioregion could reduce the risk of environmental pollution while also reducing the dependence on synthetic fertilizer inputs. However, the ability to recycle nutrients from organic waste streams depends on available technology and recovery processes, which will always be less than 100% efficient.



An estimated 225 million m³ of water is required for agriculture in the bioregion. Irrigated forage crop production required the most water, accounting for approximately 60% of total agricultural water need.

Habitat & Carbon Stock Indicators

Wildlife Habitat Capacity: 72/100 (High)

The high wildlife habitat capacity rating for the Okanagan is reflective of the relatively large proportion of natural lands, such as woodlands and grasslands, within the Agricultural Land Reserve.

Habitat Connectivity: density: 11,935, proximity: 149m

Accessible, connected natural habitats allow for wildlife to more safely live on and move through farmland. Across the agricultural landscape there are 11,935 habitat patches, or "islands" of natural habitat. Wildlife must traverse an average of 149 metres without the safety of cover between patches. While the impacts of this degree of fragmentation and natural habitat distribution are location and species dependent, their values can be used to estimate habitat quality impacts in future scenarios.



Non-production, perennial, woody vegetation accounts for 3.7 million tonnes of stored carbon in the bioregion. This amount of stored carbon is equivalent to the emissions generated from driving 2.9 million cars for a vear⁶⁹.



Grassland Carbon Storage

This study does not measure the carbon capture potential in soil, grasses and other herbaceous vegetation and therefore underestimates total carbon stores in the bioregion. The majority of grasslands in B.C. are found in the southern interior of the province, including the Okanagan bioregion. Grasslands are known as one of the landscapes with the highest potential to store carbon, most of which is stored below ground in plant roots and soil. Global assessments have found that grassland ecosystems store over 30% of the global stock of carbon found in terrestrial ecosystems⁷⁰. These ecosystems have the potential to act as a long term carbon sink, that under proper management, could contribute significantly to climate change mitigation.

Economic & Employment Indicators

Gross Domestic Product: \$134 million

Total GDP impact generated from food production and related goods and services in 2016 is \$134 million. Of this, food production contributes \$112 million (direct impact), all supplier industries generate \$20 million (indirect impact), and employees in the food system and related industries contribute \$2 million (induced impact) by spending their earnings in the Okanagan bioregion.



Food production and related industries in the Okanagan generated a total tax revenue of \$17 million. Of this, \$9 million was distributed to the federal government, \$5 million to the provincial government and \$3 million to local governments.



3 Employment Income: \$84 million

Total Employment income earned through wages and salaries from food production and related goods and services in 2016 is \$84 million.



Food production and related goods and services generate 2,303 full time equivalent (FTE) jobs in 2016. Of these local jobs, 83% are in primary agriculture (crop and livestock production), 14% are in food processing, and 3% are in other related industries.

Connecting Regional Food Systems

The post-production sector, including food aggregation, processing and distribution, is critical for realizing the food self-reliance and economic outcomes associated with regionalized food production. This sector includes the people, infrastructure and networks that transform raw agricultural products into saleable, consumable goods, and transports food from field to fork⁷¹.

Policy and regulatory environments developed to support global-industrial supply chains have created barriers to the development of regional post-production businesses and infrastructure. For example, current national and international trade agreements and obligations are often in direct opposition of efforts to regionalize food systems, particularly when it comes to food processing, distribution and institutional procurement^{72,73}. Industrial land use competition in urban and near urban areas, land use planning and zoning can also restrict the development of regional post-production businesses and infrastructure.

As demand for locally grown food increases, new models are emerging to facilitate food aggregation, processing, and distribution within regions. These models are redefining producer-consumer relationships and have the potential to address local economic development, increase market access to small and mid-scale producers, develop trust between supply chain actors, and address food access challenges in communities.

To better understand what a regionally scaled post-production sector in the Okanagan could look like, this research included an evaluation of the characteristics of business and infrastructure types in regional food supply chains. The study revealed that the solutions are not purely market-driven. At the local level, there is a need for comprehensive policy reform that removes existing regulatory barriers to create supportive environments for the post-production sector. There is also a need for greater coordination and policy alignment across local, provincial and federal jurisdictions.

Policy Area: Support for a Regional Post-production Sector

Zoning for Post-production Infrastructure:

Conditional zoning in Granville County, North Carolina was established to allow for agriculturally related activities not considered bona fide farming in the rural buffer zone⁷⁴. This includes agricultural processing, cold storage facilities, farmers markets, farm stands, microbreweries, wineries, and community and regional meat processing facilities. In this case, zoning decisions are made on a case-by-case basis to ensure that proposals meet zoning standards and support agriculture in the region.

Municipal Support for the Post-production Sector:

The Montpellier Market of National Interest (MIN) emerged from Montpellier Métropole's (France) food and agroecology policy⁷⁵. The innovative food processing, distribution and networking hub was developed on cityowned land. The facility houses a number of processing businesses and supports sustainable agriculture and local supply chains in the region.





these scenarios.

2050 Scenario Outcomes

Scenarios provide information to support dialogue and decision making. Future "what - if" scenarios explore the potential of a regional food system in the Okanagan. Indicator values can be used to compare food self-reliance, environmental and economic outcomes across each of



Food Self-Reliance & Imports

Food self-reliance is impacted by the population size, land area, and the mix of crop and livestock production in the bioregion. It is worth noting that for most of the 10,000+ year history of human activity in this bioregion, the Indigenous Peoples of these lands were food selfreliant and that this has changed only in the past century since colonization.

Comparing the 2016 and Business as Usual scenarios illustrates how a growing population can impact food self-reliance. With the current mix of crop and livestock production, food self-reliance decreases from 38% in 2016 to 33% as the population increases in the Business as Usual scenario. At the same time, the associated dependence on food imports increases to meet local food need.

With a 2050 population, the Farmland Loss scenario illustrates that a 20% reduction in the amount of land available to be used for food production decreases food self-reliance to 28% and further increases reliance on imports.

Changing the mix of crops and livestock grown in the bioregion to prioritize local food need can substantially increase food self-reliance. This is demonstrated in the Regionalized scenario. Scenarios with regionalized food production have approximately twice the food selfreliance potential as those that model the existing crop and livestock mix.

The area dedicated to producing tree fruit crops for export (sweet cherry, apple and wine grape) has a relatively small impact on food self-reliance. The Maintain Exports scenario illustrates that maintaining these export production sectors at 2016 levels only reduces food selfreliance by 3%, relative to the Regionalized scenario. The Expand Land scenario highlights that there is sufficient agricultural land in the Okanagan to reach 74% food self-reliance, which approaches the theoretical maximum level of food self-reliance for the bioregion based on the current diet. Attaining this level of food self-reliance requires both a shift to regionalized food production and putting additional agricultural land into production.

The Mitigate Impacts scenario shows a small decrease in food self-reliance from the Expand Land scenario as land is removed from production to protect critical habitat and establish on-farm habitat protection measures. This illustrates the potential trade-offs between food selfreliance and wildlife protection.

Food Self-Reliance for Total Diet

Percentage of local diet satisfied by locally produced food.



Food Imports

Tonnes (t) of food imported to satisfy local food need.



Maximum Food Self-Reliance

The maximum potential food self-reliance for the bioregion is calculated to be 77% based on the current diet and available land. Maximum food self-reliance will always be less than 100% as long as the population's dietary preferences include food that must be imported, such as out-of-season foods and foods that cannot be produced in the bioregion. In the Okanagan, food self-reliance may also be impacted by irrigation access and water availability. Achieving maximum food selfreliance would require use of lands beyond reasonable irrigation access and increase water demand and increase agricultural water demand to 466 million cubic metres annually.

Out of Sight, Out of Mind

Understanding externalized food system costs

There are costs associated with all food system activities. Some costs are obvious and factored into food prices, such as expenses for agricultural inputs or labour. There are also less obvious, externalized costs. For example, when pesticides and fertilizers contaminate water bodies, kill off-target species, or degrade habitat, the costs are borne by the communities and ecosystems where food is produced. In a highly globalized food system, this is often far away from where food is ultimately consumed.

There are also externalized costs associated with food system labour. Food workers are essential to providing food for society, highlighted by their declaration as essential workers during the COVID-19 pandemic. However, many food workers are frequently underpaid and working in unsafe conditions ⁷⁶. While cheap labour can increase profits for some food system actors, food workers and the communities in which they live bear the costs through impacts to their health and wellbeing. It is important to note that low wage food work is often performed by women and racialized communities⁷⁷, who are disproportionately impacted by externalized food system costs.

Regionalizing the food system is not a silver bullet solution to addressing externalized costs. However, regional food systems are better positioned to mitigate the social and environmental costs of food production by increasing both local awareness and capacity to address them through policy. In comparison, externalized impacts are neither understood, nor locally influenced, if they are taking place in distant communities. For example, this report demonstrates that expanding local agriculture to provide for local food needs could increase greenhouse gas emissions and habitat degradation. However, when these impacts take place close to home, we can better understand the trade-offs associated with different agricultural practices and work to achieve better outcomes through targeted policy and best practices. Similarly, just labour practices can more readily be established if the outcomes are locally seen and understood.



Total Ecological Footprint for Food Consumed

Global hectares (gha) required to meet the total food need of the population.



Per Capita Ecological Footprint

Global hectares (gha) required to meet an individual's food need.





Ecological Footprint

The total ecological footprint increases from the 2016 to the Business as Usual scenario due to increasing population in 2050. However, per capita ecological footprint for these two scenarios is unchanged because there is no change to local diets.

Assuming the same diet, there is also little change in the ecological footprint when a regionalized food production system is adopted. Importantly, this result demonstrates that the increasing consumption of locally grown food does not necessarily decrease the associated environmental impacts. Other factors such as yield, production methods and diet can have a greater impact on ecological footprint than where the food is produced.

The most significant reduction in ecological footprint can be seen in the Change Diets scenario, which models a diet that reduces the consumption of meat and other livestock products, relying more heavily on plant-based alternatives for protein.

Ecological Footprint of Meat Consumption

Meat consumption has a big impact on the ecological footprint of food consumption. Diets higher in meat products result in higher ecological footprints because of the resources and greenhouse gas emissions involved in producing meat. If a vegetarian diet were adopted in the bioregion in 2050, the per capita ecological footprint would be 0.6 gha, 40% lower than the per capita ecological footprint in 2016. For a vegetarian diet, per capita ecological footprint is 25% lower than the planetary health diet modelled in the Change Diets scenario, which still includes some meat consumption. Pulses and legumes (lentils, peas and beans) are often used as alternatives to animal proteins. These crops have a lower ecological footprint, and require less energy and water to produce than meat products⁷⁸.

Does it Grow Here? Social Capital and Regional Food Systems

What is Social Capital?

Social capital refers to the relationships, trust, and reciprocity between individuals in a community⁷⁹ that facilitate cooperation, collaboration or collective action in response to challenges⁸⁰. For example, a community with a high degree of social capital might be better positioned to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic through the organization of mutual aid networks or other forms of community organizing and support. Additionally, social capital positively influences a number of measures of community wellness such as quality of life, individual well-being and crime rates⁸¹. In essence, social capital is the glue that holds society together.

Social Capital and Regional Food Systems

Enhanced social capital is a largely unexplored dimension of regional food system development, but is now considered an important tool for assessing the benefits of regional food systems. From an Indigenous perspective, social capital has always been grounded in, and reinforced by, the community and family on-the-land activities involved in traditional foodways. In the Okanagan bioregion, communities recognize the value of social capital for their community members, but have yet to explore how regional food systems may strengthen social capital in their communities.

With high rates of population growth and a long history of local food production, the Okanagan bioregion is an ideal area to study the connection between regional food systems and social capital. Social capital is considered a potential benefit of regional food systems because these food systems can facilitate relationships and trust between consumers and producers through social interaction. In this study, local food system actors in the Okanagan Bioregion described, through surveys and interviews, how they created social relationships by participating in the regional food system. Participants pinpointed the important spaces such as farmers markets, food co-ops, and community gardens in building relationships and trust.

This study found that in the Okanagan bioregion, a connection exists between participating in the regional food system and building social capital among local food system actors. This suggests that a well-developed regional food system has the potential to enhance community-level social capital through social interaction. By investing in regional food systems, community leaders and policy makers can positively influence social relationships in their community and make connections that are important for community cohesion, well-being, and development.



Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Assuming consistent agricultural practices, the greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from agriculture are most significantly impacted by the amount of agricultural activity and the type of crop and livestock products produced.

The Regionalized scenario prioritizes the production of higher yield crop and livestock products to optimize food self-reliance. The associated increase in food production results in an approximate 50% increase in GHG emissions relative to the 2016 scenario.

The Expand Land scenario increases the area of land in food production which corresponds to approximately 2.5 times the greenhouse gas emissions, relative to the 2016 scenario. In this scenario, some land is dedicated to the production of beef, which is not produced in the Regionalized scenario, contributing to the elevated GHG emissions.

Reducing the consumption of livestock products results in lower GHG emissions from agriculture. Livestock production is relatively emissions intensive due to manure handling and storage, enteric emissions from ruminant livestock, as well as emissions associated with feed production. The Change Diets scenario, which significantly decreases consumption of livestcok products, results in a 40% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions from agriculture compared to the Regionalized scenario modelled with the baseline diet.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Agriculture

Tonnes (t) of carbon dioxide equivalent (CO $_{\rm 2}{\rm e})$ emissions from agriculture.





Crop Nutrient Need

Tonnes (t) of nutrients required to support crop production.



Nutrient Availability in Organic Waste

Tonnes (t) of nutrients available in organic waste streams.



Local Food Consumption and Greenhouse Gas Emissions

This study models the greenhouse gas emissions associated with agriculture in the bioregion. The data shows that increasing local food consumption and food self-reliance does not necessarily result in lower emissions from agriculture. However, in a regionalized food system, we bring food production and associated impacts "home", and therefore increase our capacity to mitigate them through locally developed policies and best practices. These could include reducing and appropriately managing food and agricultural waste (e.g. manure, crop residue), reducing dependence on fossil fuel-based fertilizers, and improving the carbon capture potential of soils through regenerative agricultural practices.



Nutrient Need & Availability

Comparing crop nutrient need and nutrient availability illustrates the potential for the nutrients from organic waste streams to meet crop nutrient needs in the bioregion, if properly recovered. Recovering nutrients from organic waste streams and recycling them into agricultural systems can reduce both the potential for environmental pollution from nutrients in organic waste, and the dependence of agriculture on synthetic nutrient inputs from non-renewable sources.

In all scenarios, there are more than enough nutrients in organic waste streams in the bioregion to meet crop nutrient needs. Closing the loop, and improving nutrient recycling, depends on policy development, the application of best management practices and new technologies. Given that nutrient availability is greater than crop nutrient need, additional management measures are required to mitigate pollution from excess nutrients in waste. This could include exporting recovered nutrients for use as fertilizers in other regions.

The amount of organic waste, and therefore nutrient availability, increases with population growth and livestock production. In the Business as Usual scenario, the larger population results in greater nutrient supplies from additional food waste and human excreta. Similarly, scenarios which produce more livestock, such as the Regionalized and Expand Land scenarios, are associated with higher nutrient availability. In these scenarios there is also an increased risk of environmental pollution, if nutrients in waste streams are not properly managed.



Closing the Nutrient Loop in the Bioregion

The bioregion could meet a large portion of crop nutrient needs from organic residuals, reducing both the dependence of the bioregion on synthetic fertilizers and the risk of pollution from nutrients in waste streams. However, recovery and management remain significant challenges in closing the loop.

Management practices, technology and infrastructure determine if nutrients in organic residuals are recovered for use in crop production, rather than being lost as pollution in water bodies and landfills. The scenarios modelled suggest that there is sufficient N, P, and K in organic waste streams in the bioregion to meet crop needs for these nutrients. Nutrient recovery potential will never be 100%. Current best practices developed using innovative technologies and processes result in nutrient recovery rates ranging from 70-90%. The existing rates of recovery and reuse in the bioregion are much lower.

There are facilities in the Okanagan that process biosolids from municipal wastewater, and in some communities planning is underway for large-scale processing of municipal food waste. Existing programs and policies in the bioregion also aim to reduce the amount of food waste in landfills through household and small-scale composting, however these residuals are rarely recirculated into the food system. For many communities infrastructure costs, safety and public perception are barriers to widespread nutrient recycling.

This study recognizes the potential for the bioregion to recover nutrients to meet much of the local crop nutrient need. This potential recovery could reduce both environmental pollution from nutrient surpluses and dependence on synthetic, mined and imported fertilizers. However, recovering value from organic waste streams and investing in efficient nutrient recycling and distribution remain important areas of work to advance regional food systems and local sustainability goals.

Policy Area: Manage Organic Waste and Improve Nutrient Cycling

Municipal Leadership for a Circular Food Economy:

Circular food economy approaches aim to develop resource flows whereby organic by-products are used and recirculated in the food system⁸². Guelph-Wellington (Ontario) aims to develop Canada's first circular food economy. Through municipal leadership, and strategic partnerships with universities, community organizations, the City of Guelph and Wellington County have launched a plan to jointly increase food access, business innovation and waste recovery. The plan articulates a vision that maximizes the use of food system inputs and outputs to eliminate waste, optimize economic value and mitigate negative environmental impacts⁸³.



Agricultural Water Requirements

The total agricultural water requirements for the bioregion are influenced by the production of waterintensive crops or livestock. The Regionalized scenario shifts production away from irrigation-intensive crops, particularly forage, and water use decreases relative to the 2016 scenario. It is important to note that, since the model assumes that feed grain is imported, water requirements exclude the water needed to grow feed grain. In this way, a significant portion of the bioregion's water needs are exported outside of the bioregion.

The Expand Land and Mitigate Impacts scenarios limit the expansion of agricultural production based on proximity to either a major lake or water purveyor, but still require more water than the Regionalized scenario. The proximity to a water source does not mean that there will be sufficient available water at the source to satisfy demand and maintain the ecological integrity of freshwater ecosystems. In fact, the majority of streams in the Okanagan are fully allocated, and water suppliers have limited capacity to supply additional agricultural land^{84,85}.

Agricultural Water Requirements

Volume (m³) of water required for agriculture, in millions.



Agricultural Water Use in the Okanagan

Agriculture water requirements for crop irrigation and livestock watering currently comprise over 50% of the total water demand in the Okanagan. The Agricultural Water Demand Model (AWDM) estimates irrigation and livestock water requirements based on climate, crop type, irrigation systems, soil conditions and management⁸⁷. With information from the AWDM, it is possible to estimate the total irrigated area of major crops in the Okanagan bioregion, their average irrigation requirements, and the associated water demand. Forage crops, which also represent the largest crop area, have the largest total water demand. On a per hectare basis, forage is the most water intensive crop among those most widely grown in the region. Grapes have the lowest irrigation requirement.



Climate Change and Increasing Water Demand

Future scenarios estimate water requirements based on 2010 climatic conditions, which is considered a 'typical' climate year, neither anomalously hot/dry nor cool/wet. Data was not available to model water requirements for future climatic changes in the year 2050. As a result, agricultural water requirements reported likely underestimate irrigation demand for the 2050 scenarios, as climate change and the associated higher summer temperatures are predicted to increase agricultural irrigation requirements⁸⁶. While water demand estimates do not account for predicted climate changes in 2050, looking into the past can help to understand how increased summer temperatures and drought conditions can impact agricultural water demand. For example, 2003 was a drought year in the Okanagan. In this hot and dry year, water demand for agriculture was approximately 40% higher than 2010.

Irrigation Rates and Total Irrigated Area, 2016

	irrigation rate (m³/ha)*	total irrigated area (ha)
forage crops	7,557	17,964
apples	6,160	3,484
sweet cherries	6,502	1,700
grapes	3,335	3,396
other tree fruit	7,159	888
vegetables	4,697	468

*irrigation rates modelled using 2010 climate conditions

Agricultural Water Requirements for 2016 by Crop Group



Meeting Human and Ecosystem Water Needs in Uncertain Conditions

Aquatic ecosystems require different types of flow conditions throughout the year to support life and ensure long term wellbeing. For example, there must be sufficient water present in streams for flushing, linking to side channels and supporting the migration, spawning, and rearing of different fish species. Water management practices in B.C. have often overlooked the needs of aquatic ecosystems, which, combined with other forms of habitat degradation, have resulted in declines in fish populations⁸⁸.

In the Okanagan, the majority of precipitation falls as snow during the winter months, accumulating as snowpack at high altitudes. Consequently, the majority of runoff occurs as the snowpack melts during the months of April, May and June. This flow pattern puts water supply out of step with demand, which peaks during the growing season, and highlights the importance of water storage early in the year to satisfy increased demand later in the summer and fall. The figures on the opposite page illustrate this flow pattern for Trout Creek, near Summerland in the South Okanagan.

Variable streamflow levels from year to year are typical in the Okanagan. For example, in Trout Creek, the mean annual discharge from 1996-2017 is estimated to range from a minimum of 0.95 m³/s in 2003, to a maximum of 8.34 m³/s in 2017⁸⁹. As a result, water availability in the region can vary substantially from year to year. Dry years can cause water stress with the potential for harm to both the ecology and livelihoods in the region. Furthermore, climate change projections in the region suggest that drought years will occur with increased frequency and intensity in the coming decade⁹⁰. Changes in mountain snowpack are cited as the "most important factor controlling the timing and amount of water that is available in the Okanagan basin"91. Reduced snow accumulation in winter would reduce streamflow levels and, combined with expected increased demand, may reduce water availability and intensify existing competition among water users as well as between human and ecosystem needs.

Managing water for human and ecological wellbeing will require coordinated drought planning, water conservation, and water storage planning. Additionally, the choice of crop and production systems has important consequences for water demand in the region. Matching the most appropriate crops and food system to the Okanagan's semi-arid climate is an important consideration. Similarly, assuring high levels of irrigation efficiency is essential. Watershed-level governance and sciencebased policy development, such as the ongoing initiatives of the Okanagan Nation Alliance and the Okanagan Basin Water Board, will continue to be critical.



Median Naturalized Streamflow and Weekly Water Demand for Trout Creek

Median naturalized streamflow (m3/s) (modelled) for Trout Creek, derived from mean weekly flow 1996-2017 92.







Policy Area: Prioritizing Fresh Water Ecosystems in Water Policy

The Katherine and Daly Rivers in Northern Australia rely on discharge from the Tindall Aquifer for sufficient year-round flow and ecosystem function. The Tindall Water Aquifer Water Allocation Plan was developed to promote sustainable allocation of aquifer discharge between extractive, environmental and Indigenous cultural uses. The total extraction limit is determined each year based on annual rainfall and modelled recharge rates to the aquifer and rivers. Water is first reserved to sustain ecological and cultural requirements, and the residual is then allocated for extractive use. The plan aims to ensure that sufficient water levels are maintained in aquatic systems to meet environmental and cultural needs, even in drought years ⁹⁴.



Wildlife Habitat Capacity

Wildlife habitat capacity, determined by the type of land use and land cover, assesses the ability of different landscapes to support wildlife. The high wildlife habitat capacity rating for the Okanagan is reflective of the relatively large proportion of natural lands, such as woodlands and grasslands, within the Agricultural Land Reserve in the bioregion. In scenarios where there is no change to the area of land used for food production, the wildlife habitat capacity remains high.

Expanding the cultivated area in the bioregion decreases wildlife habitat capacity. The losses of critical habitat areas, including riparian woodlands, and natural wetlands, are reflected in a 9-point reduction in wildlife habitat capacity (from High to Moderate), which is substantial given the overall percentage of natural land cover in the bioregion.

The Mitigate Impacts scenario aims to reduce the negative impacts of agricultural expansion on wildlife through two measures. First, this scenario excludes critical habitat areas from agricultural expansion and maintains these areas as natural lands. Second, this scenario implements hedgerows and riparian buffers on agricultural landscapes to improve habitat values on farms. By protecting critical habitat and implementing onfarm wildlife enhancement measures, the wildlife habitat capacity improves relative to the Expand Land scenario, from 63 to 67/100.

Wildlife Habitat Capacity

Quality of land cover for wildlife in the agricultural landscape.



Habitat Connectivity

Number of natural habitat patches (density).



Habitat Connectivity

Average distance in metres (m) between natural habitat patches (proximity).





Habitat Connectivity

Expanding food production to uncultivated areas decreases wildlife habitat connectivity within the agricultural landscape. This can be seen in the Expand Land scenario. In this scenario, proximity, the average distance between habitat patches, increased by an average of 4m. Density, the number of habitat patches, decreased by 2,858 patches.

The quality of agricultural landscapes for wildlife habitat varies according to both the land and species. Farmland can support more biodiversity by providing a diverse mosaic of land types that can be used by more species alongside other conservation measures like protected parks. For example, both songbirds and raptors benefit from orchards and pastures as habitat areas, while a number of species, such as ground-nesting birds and ungulates, can use unimproved pasture for feeding and breeding. While cropland can provide value for wildlife in the region, natural Okanagan ecosystems are irreplaceable for many species.

In the Mitigate Impacts scenario, protecting critical habitat areas and implementing hedgerows and riparian buffers mitigates some of the negative impacts of agricultural expansion on wildlife habitat connectivity. This is done by increasing the number of habitat patches and reducing the average distance between them, enhancing the overall network of land hospitable to wildlife.

Habitat connectivity remains the same for scenarios that model the same cultivated area.



Agricultural Expansion and Wildlife Habitat Impacts

This study assesses the hospitality of the agricultural landscape to local wildlife based on both cropland and natural, or uncultivated areas within the Agricultural Land Reserve. The conversion of natural lands comes with important trade-offs that should be considered in planning for the future. Natural lands are instrumental to the health of plants, animals, ecosystems and Indigenous foodways.

Overall, the loss of habitat areas in the Expand Land scenario is small, however the greatest amount of habitat loss occurs in some of the most critical, and rare habitat areas. For example, expanding agricultural production would result in the greatest losses in riparian woodlands (58% converted) and natural wetlands (46% converted). These areas have been assigned a Very High conservation rank, and make up only a small portion of the land area in the ALR. This study demonstrated that rare, sensitive ecosystems can be at disproportionate risk for agricultural conversion as food production expands.

The Mitigate Impacts scenario results in approximately 13,500 ha in critical habitat protection and habitat enhancements, reducing the overall loss of natural land by 8%. The connectivity of habitat areas in the landscape is also greatly improved. This analysis provides insight into the potential landscape improvements landowners could make to enhance on-farm and regional habitat. Current recommendations for improving habitat connectivity in the Okanagan have identified hedgerows, riparian buffers, and other common farm features as ideal to improve both farmscape and landscape level connectivity⁹⁵. Collaborations between regional government, conservation organizations and landowners can work together to identify areas where these landscape changes are most beneficial and assess the best way to implement improvements through existing programming and policy.

Maps 1 and 2 illustrate the impacts of agricultural expansion on natural habitats for a landscape sample in the bioregion. Critical habitat protection and implementation of habitat enhancements (i.e. riparian buffers and hedgerows) are shown in Map 3 which illustrates these mitigation measures implemented on the same landscape sample.

agricultural land

settlements & roads

waterways

habitat area





Map 2: Expand Land Scenario



Map 3: Mitigate Impacts Scenario





Tonnes (t) of carbon stored in non-production, woody vegetation, in millions.



habitat enhancements (i.e. hedgerows and riparian buffers)



Carbon Stocks

Converting natural lands to agricultural land reduces aboveground carbon storage in non-production, perennial vegetation, such as trees and shrubs. This dynamic can be seen in the Expand Land scenario where carbon stocks decrease to 3.2 million tonnes. This loss of stored carbon is equivalent to that generated from 400,000 cars driving for a year. Implementing habitat protection, riparian buffers and hedgerows in the Mitigate Impacts scenario has the potential to build up these stocks on expanded cultivated land by establishing natural, perennial vegetation in the bioregion. However, stored carbon in this scenario is still lower than scenarios that do not expand the cultivated area in the bioregion. It is important to note that, because this indicator excludes changes in below-ground carbon, such as soil, carbon stocks are underestimated.

All other scenarios report the same level of carbon storage as the land base is assumed to maintain the same area of perennial, non-production, woody vegetation as in 2016. While the shift to a regionalized food production system alters the crop and livestock mix, it does not impact existing aboveground carbon stocks in natural areas such as hedgerows, riparian areas, and forest stands.

Gross Domestic Product & Tax Revenue

Total gross domestic product (GDP) and total tax revenue for the Business as Usual scenario are similar to the 2016 scenario as there are no changes to local food production. When more food is produced locally, more economic activity is generated, increasing linkages between industries and yielding higher economic impacts. With the shift to a regionalized food production system more food is produced and the economic impacts increase relative to 2016.

When less food is produced locally, as illustrated in the Farmland Loss scenario, there is a decrease in economic linkages and activities and therefore a decrease in all economic indicators. Total GDP decreases to \$113 million from \$134 million in 2016. Total tax revenue also decreases.

The highest economic impacts are associated with a regionalized food system that maintains the export fruit production sector. In the Maintain Exports scenario, GDP increases to \$217 million, and tax revenue increases to \$28 million.

Note that the induced GDP impacts (generated from spending of employees and workers in primary crop and livestock production sectors and their supplier industries) are relatively small and similar across all scenarios. The size of the induced impact implies that only a small portion of income earned is recirculated in the local economy. This is largely due to the dependence of goods and services produced outside the bioregion. Shifting towards more local food production and consumption has the potential to raise GDP impacts overall, but has little effect on the induced GDP impacts unless other sectors of the economy are sufficiently regionalized. That is, if other economic sectors in the Okanagan were regionalized, and dominated by local businesses who were able to produce goods and services, more of the locally earned income could circulate within the Okanagan's economy, further increasing GDP impacts.

Gross Domestic Product

Total gross domestic product generated by food system activities, in millions (2016 value).



Tax Revenue

Total tax revenue (municipal, provincial, federal) generated by food system activities, in millions (2016 value).

food system 2016	\$17
business as usual	\$18
farmland loss	\$15
regionalized	\$19
maintain exports	\$28
maintain exports change diets	\$28 \$16
maintain exports change diets expand land	\$28 \$16 \$21

M

The Value of Food Processing

Increasing the capacity to produce and process food locally can increase economic activities and linkages among related industries⁹⁶. Shifting to a regionalized food production system in the bioregion could increase local food production by over 65,000 tonnes. The economic impacts generated from such a shift are influenced by the scale and capacity of the local food processing sector.

To illustrate the economic impacts of a local food processing sector, two different food processing capacities were compared in a regionalized food system. The first reflected the same processing capacity that existed in the bioregion in 2016, and the second reflected additional capacity to support the processing required in a regionalized food production system. When necessary processing capacity is available locally, more raw food can be processed into value-added products. As a result, the total value of processed foods produced in the bioregion increases by \$105 million. Total GDP impacts increase by \$27 million, 23% higher than the GDP impacts of a comparable scenario with existing (2016) processing capacity. The number of FTE jobs increases by 268.

These results illustrate the role of the processing sector in generating economic impacts. Increasing the capacity of the local processing sector raises the total value of food produced locally. This, in turn increases local GDP, employment income, tax revenue, and number of jobs.



Employment Impacts of Food Processing



Economic Impacts of Food Processing

Employment Income & Jobs

The total number of full time equivalent (FTE) jobs decreases slightly in the Regionalized scenario relative to 2016. This is primarily due to the decrease in labour intensive agricultural production sectors, particularly tree fruit. In the Regionalized scenario total employment income increases despite the decrease in total overall employment. This is primarily due to the increase in jobs in the processing sector, where employees earn more money relative to primary production. The average annual earnings for employees in the primary agriculture and food processing sectors is \$27,000 and \$48,000, respectively.

The Maintain Exports scenario results in the highest total employment income and number of jobs across all scenarios. The number of FTE jobs increases to 3,600 when the major fruit sector is maintained, highlighting the significant labour requirements of these sectors. The most significant increase in employment from the Regionalized scenario comes in the primary agriculture sector.

Foreign Labour and Agriculture in the Okanagan

In the Okanagan, tree fruit and wine grape production requires an influx of seasonal labour during the growing season. Much of this labour is currently provided by an estimated 6,000 temporary foreign workers primarily from Mexico and the Caribbean⁹⁷. The COVID-19 pandemic shed light on both the dependence of the fruit production sector in the Okanagan bioregion on foreign labour, and the health and safety risks disproportionately experienced by these essential food system workers^{98,99}.

Employment Income

Total employment income generated by food system workers, in millions (2016 value).



Number of Jobs

Number of full-time equivalent (FTE) food system jobs, by sector.







Nurturing the Next Generation of Farmers

Since the 1980s, the population of farmers in Canada has decreased by one third, and the average age of farmers has steadily increased¹⁰⁰. Today, the average age of farmers in B.C. is 56¹⁰¹. Many major agriculture and food system sectors across the province now rely on skilled agricultural workers from outside Canada through federally-administered programs such as the Temporary Foreign Worker program¹⁰².

The declining farming population, lack of succession planning, and increasing dependence on foreign labour could create challenges in meeting the demand for skilled agriculturalists in the future. Sustaining a thriving agricultural sector in the bioregion, and beyond will require adequate farmer livelihoods, training programs, and ongoing professional support.

Future employment estimates in this report are based on current agricultural practices. It is estimated that a shift to more regenerative, ecologically sound farming practices will create a greater demand for skilled agricultural labour. Richard Heinberg, of the Post Carbon Institute, suggested that the shift to regenerative agriculture and the requisite food system change will require about 50 million farmers across North America¹⁰³. In other words, approximately 20% of the population will need to be directly involved in producing food in regenerative ways. In B.C. today, less than 2% of the population works on farms.

To support this transition, investment is needed in agriculture education programs designed to prepare aspiring farmers in regenerative farming. Extension education for farmers and applied research is also needed to develop farming methods to meet regional food demand and steward the land and resources upon which food systems depend.

Understanding Food System Trade-offs

This study highlights the potential of a regional food system and the trade-offs embedded in our food system decisions. While model outputss are not definitive or predictive, the scenarios highlight the following key trends;

The Okanagan bioregion could substantially increase food self-reliance: Producing a mix of crops and livestock that prioritize local food need can double food self-reliance for the bioregional population. If additional agricultural land were brought into production, food self-reliance could further increase.

Increasing the consumption of locally produced food does not reduce the environmental impacts associated with the food system, but changing diets does: Reducing the consumption of livestock products lowers the ecological footprint of the food we consume, as well as greenhouse gas emissions from agriculture.

Indicator Performance

Percentage change from 2016 conditions for indicators.

There are sufficient nutrients in organic waste streams to meet crop needs in the bioregion if they are recovered and recycled: Recycling nutrients from organic waste streams can reduce the risk of environmental pollution, and dependence on synthetic fertilizers. Closing nutrient cycles in the bioregion will require improvements in waste management technology and infrastructure.

Prioritizing water-efficient crops can reduce the

Scenarios

bioregion's water use: Forage crops are the most abundant and among the most water-intensive crops grown in the bioregion. Production of more water-efficient crops is one avenue to significantly reduce the bioregion's agricultural water demand. While importing feed for livestock can reduce the agricultural water demand locally, doing so transfers the associated water demand to the regions where livestock feed is grown. Efficient use of water for both crop and livestock production is critical.

Expanding the agricultural land base onto natural lands erodes habitat guality and carbon stores: The Okanagan bioregion has a rich natural landscape which is diminished with land conversion for agriculture. WI strategically protecting critical habitat and implement on-farm habitat enhancements can help mitigate som of these adverse impacts, the conversion of natural la to agricultural production comes with environmental trade-offs.

A regionalized food system can increase local economic benefits: Moving toward a more regionalized food system can increase GDP, tax revenue, and employment income associated with the food system. The highest local economic benefits are associated with a regionalized food system that still maintains wine grape and tree fruit production for export.



business as usual change diets farmland loss expand land regionalized mitigate impacts maintain exports • ==> food ecological greenhouse nutrient agricultural water food imports crop self-reliance footprint gas emissions nutrient need availability requirements

ch	
hile	
ting	
ne	
and	



and drawbacks to make the best decisions for their local

context and priorities.





Shaping Our Food System

Planning for an Uncertain Future

This study explores the food self-reliance, ecological and economic potential of a regional food system in the Okanagan bioregion. The results described in this report rely on a number of critical assumptions including:

- Population growth is aligned with future projections
- Agricultural land is used for food production •
- Farming is an economically viable and desirable career path
- A local post-production sector is developed
- Water is available to support food production
- Crop yields remain stable
- Global food supplies and distribution networks remain stable
- Skilled labour is available where and when required
- Local residents consistently choose local food

While assumptions are necessary when modelling scenarios, the future remains uncertain. There is a need to acknowledge that climate change in the 21st century brings the potential for repeated disruptions and compounded emergencies that can challenge these assumptions. Flooding, drought, wildfires, geopolitical instability, resource constraints, sea-level rise - all have the potential to disrupt our capacity to produce and distribute food both locally and globally.

Existing highly globalized and consolidated food supply chains distance us from the communities and landscapes that produce our food. Global challenges, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, have highlighted the vulnerability of our current food system and have increased interest and investment in strengthening regional capacity. While maintaining access to food produced outside the bioregion can help ensure food access at a population level in the event of local disruptions, there is increasing evidence that regionalization could be an important driver of resilience in an uncertain future.



Regional Food System Roadmap

This report presents data about current conditions, and possible future food system outcomes in the Okanagan. Ultimately, the future food system will be shaped by communities in the bioregion working together to weigh local priorities and trade-offs. Shared vision and extensive collaboration across bioregion communities and jurisdictions is key. The roadmap provides a comprehensive data-informed vision for what is possible*, and describes a regionalized food system in the Okanagan where:

- Local food infrastructure provides opportunities for year-round local food access and helps to build relationships between producers and consumers. Local policy and regulatory environments encourage new food system businesses to emerge.
- High quality tree fruits are produced for local consumption and export. This local production is supported by post-production infrastructure to allow more value to be captured in the bioregion.

2

- Landscape level habitat protections mitigate negative impacts of food production to enhance habitat quality and connectivity. These restore and protect local biodiversity.
- Locally produced food is physically and financially accessible to residents. Public institutions source food locally establishing consistent markets and increasing healthy food access.





Nutrients are recovered and recycled from organic wastes and converted into soil amendments. Closed loop nutrient management reduces the risk of environmental pollution and the dependence on synthetic fertilizer imports.



6

Regionally-based education programs and agricultural research support farmers to meet the growing demand for local food, and adapt to climate change and other food system challenges.



Indigenous Peoples can practice traditional foodways. Settler communities honour and support Indigenous self-determination and food sovereignty.

*The roadmap is based on food system priorities identified by stakeholders in the Okanagan Bioregion. See Hansen, Emily, Kristi Tatebe, Wallapak Polasub & Kent Mullinix.(2019). Okanagan Bioregion Food System Stakeholder Feedback Summary: https://www.kpu.ca/sites/

default/files/OBFSDP%20Stakeholder%20Feedback%20Summav%20Report_FINAL_0.pdf



Principles for Regional Food System Development



Comprehensive Policy Development

This project demonstrates the interconnected nature of agricultural, environmental and economic outcomes of the food system. The complex nature of food systems requires a comprehensive approach to planning and policy development. Historically, food systems have been addressed through "siloed" approaches to planning across levels of government^{104,105}. Adopting more comprehensive approaches to plan across the food system at the local level could reduce conflicting policy goals and build support for common objectives.

A comprehensive approach requires that food policy is integrated across domains and planning scales. This is often referred to as adopting a "food system lens" for planning and policy development. Incorporating food policy considerations into comprehensive planning documents, land use and zoning, economic development, social planning, climate change, etc. can be an effective strategy for comprehensively embedding food system considerations¹⁰⁶. For example, considering the impacts of the built environment on food access, the relationship between farmland protection and rural economies, or the affordability of housing on food security, are all intersections between food systems and existing areas of local government planning.



Collaborative Planning

The boundary of the food system extends beyond that of any single community, municipality or planning agency. The bioregional approach addresses this by looking at the food system at a scale that links areas with common ecology, culture, climate and human economy. The boundaries of a bioregional food system must be addressed through collaborative processes that involve Indigenous and non-Indigenous governments, community organizations, civil society and the private sector. Collaboration could involve collecting and sharing food system data and information between local jurisdictions, or developing shared visions for the food system. Adopting collaborative approaches can help to align the food system priorities of communities within a region, leading to more strategic planning and resource allocation for regional food systems development.

The population in the Okanagan bioregion is expected to grow by 43% over the next 30 years. Much of this growth is likely to occur in the bioregion's urban centres. Increasingly, planning for food systems must consider the critical urban-rural linkages. These linkages include not only the flow of food from rural to more urban areas, but also the flow of labour, resources and waste across the bioregion. Collaborative planning approaches must cross traditional planning boundaries at the municipal level while also integrating diverse perspectives. Food policy councils or groups have been one avenue for collaborative planning, bringing together diverse food system interests to inform and take part in local level policy development.

Integrated Local Metrics

Data collection is an important component of developing public policy and monitoring its impacts. As local governments become increasingly active in policy and planning in the food system, there is a need to select and monitor metrics that represent the comprehensive and locally integrated nature of food systems planning. In Canada, food system performance has been measured at provincial and national scales with an often singular focus on economic growth and outcomes. Outcomes related to health, community and individual well-being, and ecological integrity are not often considered when evaluating food system policy. This project presents local level food systems metrics across the domains of food consumption, agriculture,

This project presents local level food systems metrics across the domains of food consumption, agriculture, environment and economy. Integrating these types of metrics with existing local level data on health, affordability and community well-being has the potential to present a more comprehensive picture of local level food system outcomes and connections.

İİİ

Equity

Food system outcomes and opportunities are not equally afforded. Food system inequalities are often structured around systemic racism, colonialism and other forms of oppression and disenfranchisement that disproportionately disadvantage Indigenous and racialized communities¹⁰⁷. This is visible in patterns of food insecurity, wages and job security, and workplace safety issues. For example, rates of household food insecurity in Canada are highest among Black and Indigenous households¹⁰⁸. Black Canadians reported experiencing moderate or severe food insecurity 2.8 times more frequently than White Canadians¹⁰⁹, and household food insecurity is approximately two to four times more prevalent among Inuit, First Nations, and Métis households¹¹⁰. For the Syilx Okanagan Peoples, this is the result of being dispossessed of most traditional lands and the ensuing degradation of the region through the non-Indigenous development of agriculture, industry, and urban areas. Addressing the issue of "Land Back" for Indigenous Peoples, and adopting measures to eradicate systemic inequities is essential to establishing a regional food system that benefits all.

With the understanding that negative food system outcomes disproportionately impact certain communities, adopting an equity based approach to local food systems planning and development is imperative. Such an approach requires policy development processes that center the perspectives, knowledge and lived experiences of the communities that are most acutely impacted by societal inequities, namely racialized and Indigenous communities.

Final Thoughts

Rapidly shifting cultural, ecological and economic realities, are increasingly challenging the status quo within the food system and beyond. The data and information provided in this report aim to support comprehensive, data-informed decision making to empower municipalities, regional districts, First Nations governments, civil society groups and private sector actors to imagine and build a sustainable food system for the 21st century. Inspiration can be drawn from the longer history of the bioregion and the many generations of Indigenous Peoples who were food self-reliant in this place, as well as from the Syilx Okanagan communities of today and their committed efforts to maintain and revitalize Indigenous foodways. Ultimately, food system transformation will require a broad view of the linkages between food system components and cooperation across jurisdictions. Communities will need to challenge the status quo, re-think economic and community development, and re-evaluate policies, programs and structures so that they serve the goal of equitable, sustainable food systems that nurture the communities where they are rooted.



Image Citations

- pg. 3 Salmon Fishing, Okanagan Nation Alliance
- pg. 4 Harvesting, Okanagan Nation Alliance
- pg. 20 Salmon, Okanagan Nation Alliance
- pg. 39 Peaches, Ben Johnson
- pg. 46 Market Table, Jean-Philippe Marquis
- pg. 65 Carrot Washing, Jean-Philippe Marquis
- pg. 69 Regional Food System Illustration, Lindsay Peltz

Endnotes

Introduction

- 1 Okanagan Nation Alliance [ONA]. 2020. "Captikwł". https://www.syilx.org/about-us/syilx-nation/captikwl/
- 2 Steinman, J. 2019. "Grocery story: The promise of food co-ops in the age of grocery giants". Gabriola Island, British Columbia: New Society Publishers.
- 3 Shaw, H. "Walmart cuts Weston as bread supplier months after allegations of price-fixing surface". Financial Post. May 18, 2018. <u>https://financialpost.</u> com/news/retail-marketing/walmart-cuts-westonas-bread-supplier-months-after-allegations-of-pricefixing-surface
- 4 Mosby, I., & S. Rotz. *"As meat plants shut down, COVID-19 reveals the extreme concentration of our food supply"*. Globe and Mail. April 30, 2020. <u>https://</u> <u>www.theglobeandmail.com/opinion/article-as-meat-</u> <u>plants-shut-down-covid-19-reveals-the-extreme-</u> <u>concentration/</u>
- 5 York University. (n.d.). *"Food Policy for Canada"*. https://foodpolicyforcanada.info.yorku.ca/ backgrounder/problems/corporate-concentration/
- 6 Statistics Canada. 2016. Table 11-10-0125-01 Detailed food spending, Canada, regions and provinces. https://doi.org/10.25318/1110012501-eng
- 7 Statistics Canada. 2017. Okanagan-Similkameen, Central Okanagan and North Okanagan, Census Profile 2016, Household and Dwelling Characteristics. <u>https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dp-pd/prof/index.cfm?Lang=E</u>

8 Mosby & Rotz, 2020

9	Statistics Canada. 2020. "COVID-19 and the beef supply chain: An overview". StatCan COVID-19: Data to Insights for a Better Canada. <u>https://www150.statcan.</u> gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/201117/dq201117d-eng.htm
10	National Farmers Union [NFU]. 2011. "The State of Canadian Agriculture by the Numbers." <u>https://www. nfu.ca/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/farm_income_ exports_imports.pdf</u>
11	Qualman, D. 2017. "Agribusiness Takes All: 90 Years of Canadian Net Farm Income". <u>https://www.</u> darringualman.com/canadian-net-farm-income/
12	Qualman, D., & National Farmers Union. 2019. "Tackling the Farm Crisis and the Climate Crisis: A Transformative Strategy for Canadian Farms and Food Systems". <u>https://www.nfu.ca/wp-content/</u> <u>uploads/2019/12/Tackling-the-Farm-Crisis-and-the-</u> <u>Climate-Crisis-Final-with-covers.pdf</u>
13	BC Agriculture Research and Development Corporation [BCRDC]. 2010. <i>"Overview in Planning for Biodiversity:</i> A guide for BC Farmers and Ranchers". <u>https://www2.</u> gov.bc.ca/gov/content/industry/agriculture-seafood/ agricultural-land-and-environment/biodiversity/
14	Thilmany-McFadden, D., D. Conner, S. Deller, D. Hughes, et al. 2016. <i>"The Economics of Local Food Systems: A Toolkit to Guide Community Discussions, Assessments, and Choices"</i> . U.S. Department of Agriculture, Agricultural Marketing Service. <u>https://www.ams.usda.gov/sites/default/files/media/EconomicsofLocalFoodSystemsToolkit.pdf</u>
15	MacRae, R., & K. Donahue. 2013. "Municipal Food Policy Entrepreneurs: A Preliminary Analysis of How Canadian Cities and Regional Districts Are Involved in Food Systems Change". <u>https://tfpc.to/wordpress/wp- content/uploads/2013/05/Report-May30-FINAL.pdf</u>
16	Hardesty, S., G.Feenstra, D. Visher, T. Lerman, D. Thilmany-McFadden, A. Bauman, T. Gillpatrick, & G. Nurse Rainbolt. 2014. <i>"Values-Based Supply Chains:</i> <i>Supporting Regional Food and Farms"</i> . Economic Development Quarterly, 28(1), 17–27

- 17 Ackerman-Leist, P. 2013. "*Rebuilding the Foodshed: How to create local, sustainable and secure food systems*". Post Carbon Institute. Chelsea Green Publishing, Whitte River Junction, VT
- 18 BC Fruit Grower's Association [BCFGA]. 2020. *"Industry Profile"*. <u>https://www.bcfga.com/172/industry/</u>
- 19 Frank, Rimmerman & Co. LLP. 2017. "The Economic Impact of the Wine and Grape Industry in Canada, 2015. Canada's Wine Economy –Ripe, Robust, Remarkable". http://www.canadianvintners.com/wpcontent/uploads/2017/06/Canada-Economic-Impact-Report-2015.pdf
- 20 Statistics Canada. 2018. "Total farm area distribution, total number of farms, total gross farm receipts, total farm employment, Okanagan bioregion 2016". <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/</u> <u>tv.action?pid=3210043601</u>
- 21 Statistics Canada, 2018
- 22 BC Fruit Growers Association [BCFGA]. Personal Communication. November, 24, 2020
- 23 Okanagan Nation Alliance, 2020. "About Us" <u>https://www.syilx.org/about-us/</u>
- 24 Daschuk, James William. 2013. "Clearing the plains: Disease, politics of starvation, and the loss of aboriginal life". Regina [Sask.]: University of Regina Press.
- 25 United Nations General Assembly. 2007. "United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples [UNDRIP]".Resolution adopted by the General Assembly, 2 October 2007. <u>https://www.refworld.org/ docid/471355a82.html</u>
- 26 Mullinix, K., C. Dorward, C. Sussmann, W. Polasub, S. Smukler, C. Chiu, A. Rallings, C. Feeney, and M. Kissinger. 2016. "The Future of Our Food System: Report on the Southwest BC Bioregion Food System Design Project." <u>https://www.kpu.ca/sites/default/ files/ISFS/SWBC%20Project-Future%20of%20our%20 Food%20System%20Report_web%20version.pdf</u>

Scenarios & Indicators

- 27 ISFS developed this projection for 2050 based on BC Stat's projection for 2041. BC Stats, 2019. "Population Projections" <u>https://bcstats.shinyapps.io/popProjApp</u>
- 28 Tatebe, K., N. Robert, A. dela Rosa, E. Wirsching, R. Liu & K. Mullinix. 2018. "Protection is Not Enough: Policy Precedents to Increase the Agricultural Use of BC's Farmland". https://www.kpu.ca/sites/default/files/ Protection%20is%20not%20enough_full%20white%20 paper_ISFS_March%2012%202018.pdf
- 29 Mullinix, K, C., Dorward, M. Shutzbank, P. Krishnan, K. Ageson & A. Fallick. 2013. "Beyond protection: Delineating the economic and food production potential of underutilized, small parcel farmland in metropolitan Surrey, British Columbia". Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development. 4(1), 33-50.
- 30 BC Ministry of Agriculture (various). "Agriculture in Brief, Census of Agriculture, British Columbia Provincial Profile". <u>https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/</u> industry/agriculture-seafood/statistics/census-ofagriculture
- 31 <u>Tatebe et al., 2018</u>
- 32 Farm Credit Canada [FCC]. 2020a. *"FCC Farmland Values Report 2019"*. <u>https://www.fcc-fac.ca/en/knowledge/ag-economics/farmland-values-report.html</u>
- 33 Farm Credit Canada [FCC]. 2020b. "1985-2019 Historic FCC Farmland Values Report". <u>https://www.fcc-fac.ca/ fcc/resources/2019-historic-farmland-values-report-e.pdf</u>
- 34 Statistics Canada., n.d. Table 32-10-0102-01 Farm financial survey, financial structure by farm type, average per farm (gross farm revenue equal to or greater than \$25,000). <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/ t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=3210010201</u>
- 35 Statistics Canada. 2016. Table: 32-10-0448-01 (formerly CANSIM 004-0245): *Farm reporting a written succession plan for the operation*. <u>https://www150.</u> <u>statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=3210044801</u>

- 36 Merlet, M. 2015. "SAFERs: Land agencies that have been used to regulate the French rural land market over 50 Years". www.agter.org/bdf/en/corpus_cher fichechemin-556.html
- 37 Toronto and Region Conservation Authority [TRCA]. 2020. *"Urban Agriculture"*. <u>https://trca.ca/</u> <u>conservation/urban-agriculture/</u>
- 38 Government of Canada. 2019. "Canada's Food Guid https://food-guide.canada.ca/en/
- 39 Kirkpatrick, S. I., L. Vanderlee, G. M. Dias, & R. M. Hanning. 2019. "Can dietary guidelines support the transformation of food systems to foster human ar planetary health?" UNSCN Nutrition. 122,44.
- 40 Dorward, C., S. Smukler & K. Mullinix. 2017. "A nov methodology to assess land-based food self-reliand the Southwest British Columbia bioregion". Renewa Agriculture and Food Systems, 32(2), 112-130.
- 41 Willett, W., J. Rockström, B. Loken, M. Springmann, Lang, S. Vermeulen, T. Garnett, et al. 2019. "Food in Anthropocene: The EAT–Lancet Commission on Hea Diets from Sustainable Food Systems." The Lance 393 (10170): 447–92.
- 42 Blanchet, R., Willows, N., Johnson, S., Okanagan Nation Salmon Reintroduction Initiatives, & Bata (2020). "Traditional Food, Health, and Diet Quali Syilx Okanagan Adults in British Columbia, Canad Nutrients", 12(4), 927.
- 43 Pan-Canadian Public Health Network [PCPHN]. 2 "Key Health Inequalities in Canada—A National Portrait". Government of Canada; Ottawa, ON, Canada. <u>https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/ phac-aspc/documents/services/publications/ science-research/key-health-inequalities-canada national-portrait-executive-summary/key_health inequalities_full_report-eng.pdf</u>
- 44 Okanagan Nation Alliance. 2020. "n'titxw Chief Salmon". <u>https://www.syilx.org/fisheries/okanag</u> <u>sockeye/</u>
- 45 Blanchet et al., 2020

2	46	<u>BCRDC, 2010</u>
t for min/	47	van der Gulik, T., D. Neilsen & R. Fretwell. 2010. "Agricultural Water Demand Model Report for the Okanagan Basin". https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/ content/industry/agriculture-seafood/agricultural- land-and-environment/water/water-management/ agriculture-water-demand-model
de".	48	Province of British Columbia. 2016. "Registered Water Allocation Restrictions". https://www2.gov. bc.ca/assets/gov/environment/air-land-water/ water/water-rights/water_allocation_notations.pdf
nd	49	Partnership for Water Sustainability in BC. Personal communication April 20th, 2020.
rel ce in able	50	BC Ministry of Environment. 1998. "Habitat Atlas for Species at Risk". <u>http://www.env.gov.bc.ca/</u> okanagan/esd/atlas/index.html
, T. n the althy	51	Tarasuk, V., & A. Mitchell. 2020. <i>"Household Food Insecurity in Canada, 2017-18."</i> PROOF: Food Insecurity Policy Research. Toronto, Ontario. <u>https://proof.utoronto.ca/</u>
t I, M.	52	Miewald, C., & A. Ostry. 2014. "A Warm Meal and a Bed: Intersections of Housing and Food Security in Vancouver's Downtown Eastside". Housing Studies, 29:6, 709-729.
ity in	53	Tarasuk & Mitchell, 2020
2018.	54	Ministry of Agriculture. 2015. "Agricultural Water Demand Model". <u>https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/</u> content/industry/agriculture-seafood/agricultural- land-and-environment/water/water-management/ agriculture-water-demand-model
<u>1-</u> 1_	55	Agricultural Water Demand Model [AWDM]. (2019) "Agricultural water requirements modelled from the Agricultural Water Demand Model with 2016 – era land use inventory". Data requested from the Ministry of Agriculture, July 2019.
<u>gan-</u>	56	Manning, David. A. C. 2015. <i>"How will minerals feed the world in 2050?"</i> Proceedings of the Geologists' Association, 126(1), 14–17.

- 57 Razon, L. F. 2018. *"Reactive nitrogen: A perspective on its global impact and prospects for its sustainable production"*. Sustainable Production and Consumption, 15, 35–48.
- 58 BC Stats. 2018. "B.C Agrifood and Seafood Domestic Consumption Study". Victoria, British Columbia. https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/farming-naturalresources-and-industry/agriculture-and-seafood/ farm-management/market-development/4496 bcstats locafoodconsumption finalreport mar 22. pdf?bcgovtm=buffer
- 59 Polasub, W., M. Wijekoon, L. Saugstad & K. Mullinix. 2020. "Food Access, Concerns and Perceptions during Covid-19 First Wave". Richmond, British Columbia. Institute for Sustainable Food Systems, Kwantlen Polytechnic University. <u>https://www. kpu.ca/sites/default/files/Food%20access%20</u> <u>concerns%20and%20perceptions%20during%20</u> <u>COVID-19_BC.pdf</u>
- 60 Heffernan, W. 2006. *"Understanding what's happening in our food and farming systems"*. In The next agricultural revolution: Revitalizing family-based agriculture and rural communities, edited by Kent Mullinix, pp. 11–21. Yakima, Washington: Good Fruit Grower.
- 61 Pringle, A. 2013. "The Power of Purchasing: The Economic Impacts of Local Procurement". Vancouver, British Columbia. Columbia Institute, LOCO BC, and ISIS Research Centre at the Sauder School of Business. <u>https://ccednet-rcdec.ca/en/toolbox/powerpurchasing-economic-impacts-local-procurement</u>

Current Conditions

- 62 Global Footprint Network. 2020a. "Ecological Footprint per Person, 1961-2017". <u>https://www.parkcity.org/</u> <u>departments/sustainability/regeneration/regenerative-</u> <u>agriculture/-arch-1/-npage-5</u>
- 63 Global Footprint Network, 2020b. *"How much does food contribute to our Ecological Footprint?"*<u>https://www.overshootday.org/how-much-does-food-contribute-to-our-ecological-footprint/</u>

- 64 Government of BC. 2020. "Wildfire Season Summary". https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/safety/wildfirestatus/about-bcws/wildfire-history/wildfire-seasonsummary
- 65 Pinna Sustainability Group. 2020. "Climate Projections for the Okanagan Region". http://www.rdno.ca/ docs/200104_OK_ClimateReport_Final.pdf
- 66 Park City. 2018. <u>"Regenerative Agriculture"</u>. <u>https://</u> www.parkcity.org/departments/sustainability/ regeneration/regenerative-agriculture/-arch-1/npage-5
- 67 City of Surrey. n.d. "About Surrey Biofuel". <u>https://www.surrey.ca/services-payments/waste-collection/surrey-biofuel-facility/about-surrey-biofuel</u>
- 68 BC Ministry of Environment and Climate Change. 2019. *"British Columbia Greenhouse Gas Emissions"*. <u>https://</u> <u>catalogue.data.gov.bc.ca/dataset/24c899ee-ef73-44a2-</u> <u>8569-a0d6b094e60c</u>
- 69 Environmental Protection Agency. 2020. "Greenhouse Gas Equivalencies Calculator". <u>https://www.epa.gov/</u> energy/greenhouse-gas-equivalencies-calculator
- 70 Wilson, S. 2009. "The Value of BC's Grasslands". Grassland Conservation Council of British Columbia. https://grasslandrestorationforum.ca/wp-content/ uploads/2017/10/Value-of-BC-Grasslands-__21809.pdf
- 71 Day-Farnsworth, L., & A. Morales. 2011. *"Satiating the Demand: Planning for Alternative Models of Regional Food Distribution."* Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development 2 (1): 227–48.
- 72 Smythe, E. 2018. *"Food for thought: How trade agreements impact the prospects for a national food policy"*. Canadian Food Studies. 5(3):76-99
- 73 Grube-Cavers, A., K. Tatebe, W. Polasub, G. Augustinowicz & K. Mullinix. 2018. *"Okanagan Bioregion Institutional Procurement Study, Final Report"*. <u>https://www.kpu.ca/sites/default/files/</u> <u>Okanagan%20bioregion%20institutional%20</u> <u>procurement%20study%20%E2%80%93%20final%20</u> <u>reportFINAL6.4.2018.pdf</u>

- 74 Granville County. 2020. "Establishments of Zoning Districts". https://library.municode. com/nc/granville_county/codes/code_of_ ordinances?nodeId=COOR_CH32LADECO ARTIIESZODI_DIV2STPUINDI_S32-70AGSUENCOZODIA
- 75 Montpellier Métropole. 2020. "Montpellier Mark of National Interest is Developing its Innovative Agricultural Processing Center". https://www.inve in-montpellier.com/en/actualites/montpelliermarket-national-interest-developing-its-innovativ agricultural-processing-center

2050 Scenario Outcomes

- 76 Klassen, S., & S. Murphy. 2020. "Equity as both a means and an end: Lessons for resilient food syste from COVID-19". World Development, 136.
- 77 Sachs, C., P. Allen, R. Terman, J. Hayden & C. Hato 2014. "Front and back of the house: Socio-spatial inequalities in food work". Agriculture and Human Values, 31 (1). 3-17.
- 78 Ritchie, H. 2020. "Less meat is nearly always better than sustainable meat, to reduce your carbon foo print". Our World in Data. <u>https://ourworldindata org/less-meat-or-sustainable-meat</u>
- 79 Putnam, R. D. 1995. *"Tuning In, Tuning Out: The Strange Disappearance of Social Capital in Ameri* Political Science and Politics, 28(4), 664–683.
- 80 Adger, W. N. 2003. *"Social Capital, Collective Action and Adaptation to Climate Change."* Economic Geography 79, 4: 387-404.
- 81 Putnam, R. D. 2000. *"Bowling alone: The collapse and revival of American Community"*. New York: Simon & Schuster
- 82 Fassio, F., & B. Minotti. 2019. "Circular Economy f Food Policy: The Case of the RePoPP Project in Th City of Turin (Italy)". Sustainability. 11, 6078.

	83	City of Guelph & County of Wellington. 2019. <i>"50x50x50 by 2025: Creating Canada's first circular</i> <i>food economy"</i> . <u>https://guelph.ca/wp-content/</u> <u>uploads/SmartCities_Booklet.pdf</u>
	84	Province of British Columbia, 2016
ket	85	Partnership for Water Sustainability in BC. Personal communication, April 20th, 2020.
<u>est-</u> ve-	86	Pinna Sustainability. 2020. "Climate Projections for the Okanagan Region". https://www.rdos.bc.ca/ development-services/planning/strategic-projects/ climate-projs/
	87	van der Gulik, Neilsen & Fretwell, 2010
ems	88	Northwest Hydraulic Consultants. 2005. "Trout Creek Water Use Plan Fisheries Report". https:// www.obwb.ca/newsite/wp-content/uploads/5_302 Trout_Creek_WUP_Fisheries_Report.pdf
cher. / n	89	Associated Environmental. 2020. <i>"Okanagan Basin Hydrologic Modelling Environment [OHME] developed for the Okanagan Basin Water Board."</i> Data requested March 2020.
er	90	Pinna Sustainability, 2020
ot- <u>a.</u> 'ca".	91	Merritt, W. S., Younes Alila, M. Barton, B. Taylor, S. Cohen & D. Neilsen. 2006. <i>"Hydrologic response to</i> <i>scenarios of climate change in sub watersheds of</i> <i>the Okanagan basin, British Columbia".</i> Journal of
	۵2	Associated Environmental 2020
on,	93	Okanagan Basin Water Board [OBWB]. (2020). "Water demand modelled from the Agricultural
2		Water Demand Model with 2016 – era land use inventory." Data requested from the Okanagan Basin Water Board in March 2020
for ne	94	Northern Territory Government. 2019. <i>"Katherine Tindall Limestone Aquifer Water Allocation Plan 2019-2024"</i> . Department of Environment and Natural Resources, Northern Territory Government, Darwin, Australia. <u>https://www.nespnorthern.edu.au/publications/katherine-tindall-limestone-aquiferwater-allocation-plan-2019-2024/</u>

- 95 Latimer, S., & A. Peatt. 2014. "Designing and Implementing Ecosystem Connectivity in the Okanagan". Okanagan Collaborative Conservation Program. http://okcp.ca/images/resources/land-useplanning/Designing-and-Implementing-Ecosystem-Connectivity-in-the-Okanagan-2014.pdf
- 96 Polasub, W., C. Chiu & K. Mullinix. 2018. "Economic Impacts of a Regionalized Food System in the Southwest British Columbia Bioregion". https://www. kpu.ca/sites/default/files/ISFS/SWBC%20project%20 research%20brief Economics FINAL 1.pdf
- 97 BC Fruit Growers Association [BCFGA]. Personal communication, November, 24, 2020
- 98 Klassen, S., & S. Murphy. 2020. "Equity as both a means and an end: Lessons for resilient food systems from COVID-19". World Development, 136.
- 99 Weiler, Anelyse, Janet McLaughlin, Susana Caxaj and Donald Cole. 2020. "Protecting the health and rights of migrant agricultural workers during the COVID-19 outbreak should be a priority". Policy Note.
- 100 Qualman, D., A. H. Akram-Lodhi, A. Desmarais & S. Srinivasan. 2018. "Forever young? The crisis of generational renewal on Canada's farms". Canadian Food Studies. 5(3), 100-127.
- 101 Statistics Canada. 2017. "Small farms and direct marketing play a large role in British Columbia." https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/95-640-x/2016001/article/14809-eng.htm
- 102 Employment and Social Development Canada. 2020. "Temporary Foreign Worker Program". https://www. canada.ca/en/employment-social-development/ services/foreign-workers.html
- 103 Heinberg, R.. 2006. "Fifty million farmers". Twenty-sixth Annual E.F. Schumacher Society Lecture. Stockbridge MA.

Shaping Our Food System

- 104 MacRae, R. 2011. "A Joined-Up Food Policy for Canada". Journal of Hunger & Environmental Nutrition. 6:4, 424-457.
- 105 Pothukuchi, K. & J. Kaufman. 1999. "Placing the food system on the urban agenda: The role of municipal institutions in food systems planning". Agriculture and Human Values, 16:2, 213-224
- 106 Brynne, A. 2018. "Working with Local Government on Food Policy: A Toolkit". https://gateway2.phabc. org/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2018/08/Food-Policy-Toolkit-FINAL-1.pdf
- 107 Public Health Agency of Canada [PHAC]. 2018. "Key Health Inequalities in Canada: A National Portrait". Ottawa: Public Health Agency of Canada. https://www. canada.ca/en/public-health/services/publications/ science-research-data/inequalities-food-insecurity-canada-infographic.html
- 108 Tarasuk & Mitchell, 2020
- 109 Public Health Agency of Canada [PHAC]. 2020. "Social determinants and inequities in health for Black Canadians: A Snapshot". Ottawa: Public Health Agency of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/ services/health-promotion/population-health/ what-determines-health/social-determinants-inequities-black-canadians-snapshot.html
- 110 PHABC, 2018

Acknowledgements

A project of this scale is not possible, nor true to its principles, without the support and inclusion of the Indigenous Peoples upon whose lands the study was done. The team would like to sincerely thank suiki?s Pauline Terbasket and the Okanagan Nation Alliance for sharing their Syilx perspectives and contributions the report.

We would also like to recognize that this project buil the work of many and thank the Okanagan Basin Wa Board, the Okanagan Nation Alliance and the South Okanagan Similkameen Conservation Program for th work and contributions to this project.

This project would not have been possible without t generous support of our funders: Real Estate Foundation of British Columbia (REFBC) **Regional District of Okanagan - Similkameen Regional District of North Okanagan Central Okanagan Foundation** Interior Health Authority

Project Advisory Committee

Brad Dollevoet, Regional District of Okanagan - Similka Christina Fraser, Laura Code, and Chris Zabek, BC Ministry of Agriculture **Corey Brown,** Blackbird Organics Janelle Taylor and Todd Caishin, Regional District of Central Okanagan Laura Frank, Regional District of North Okanagan Linda Boyd, Kristi Estergaard, Jill Worboys, and Janice Talarico, Interior Health Authority **Toni Boot,** *District of Summerland*

We would also like to thank the following people for their support and input: Hans Schreier, Trevor Murdock, Kirsten Hannam, Ted van der Gulik, Stephanie Tam, and Elinor McGrath.

c	Support in Principle for the Okanagan Food System Project
s st - e team s to	Government City of Armstrong City of Enderby City of Kelowna
lds on ater	Corporation of Lumby District of Coldstream District of Summerland
neir	District of Lake Country Interior Health Authority Okanagan Indian Band
he	Okanagan Nation Alliance Regional District of Central Okanagan
)	Town of Oliver Town of Osoyoos Township of Spallumcheen Village of Keremeos Richard Cannings, MP, South Okanagan-West Kootenay
ameen	Community Central Okanagan Food Policy Council Kamloops Food Policy Council Okanagan Basin Water Board South Okanagan Similkameen Conservation Program
	Academia Okanagan College UBC Okanagan Institute for Community Engaged Research (ICER)



About the Okanagan Bioregion Food System Project

Communities and governments are increasingly looking to strengthen regional food systems as a way to address many complex challenges. However, there is a lack of data-driven information about how, and to what extent, regional food systems can benefit local communities in terms of economic, environmental, and social impacts and the inevitable trade-offs. The Okanagan Bioregion Food System Project provides such information to local governments and communities to support dialogue, decision-making and planning in the Okanagan around sustainable, resilient food systems that nurture our communities now and into the future.

The Okanagan Bioregion Food System Project considers and builds upon existing food system planning and other related work to support local and regional food systems in the bioregion.



empowering generations to give.